Contents

I Station	ary Sets	3	
by Thomas Jech			
1 The closed unbounded filter		3	
1.1	Closed unbounded sets $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	3	
1.2	Splitting stationary sets	5	
1.3	Generic ultrapowers	6	
1.4	Stationary sets in generic extensions	9	
1.5	Some combinatorial principles	10	
2 Reflection		11	
2.1	Reflecting stationary sets	11	
2.2	A hierarchy of stationary sets	13	
2.3	Canonical stationary sets	15	
2.4	Full reflection	16	
3 Satura	tion	17	
3.1	κ^+ -saturation	17	
3.2	Precipitousness	20	
4 The cl	4 The closed unbounded filter on $P_{\kappa}\lambda$		
4.1	Closed unbounded sets in $P_{\kappa}A$	21	
4.2	Splitting stationary sets	25	

CONTENTS

4.3 Saturation \ldots 2	6
5 Proper forcing and other applications	7
5.1 Proper forcing $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 2$	7
5.2 Projective and Cohen Boolean algebras $\ldots \ldots \ldots 2$	8
6 Reflection	
6.1 Reflection principles	0
6.2 Nonreflecting stationary sets	3
7 Stationary tower forcing	

I. Stationary Sets

Thomas Jech

1. The closed unbounded filter

1.1. Closed unbounded sets

Stationary sets play a fundamental role in modern set theory. This chapter attempts to explain this role and to describe the structure of stationary sets of ordinals and their generalization.

The concept of stationary sets first appeared in the 1950's; the definition is due to G. Bloch [16], and the fundamental theorem on stationary sets was proved by G. Fodor in [24]. However, the concept of a stationary set is implicit in the work of P. Mahlo [71].

The precursor of Fodor's Theorem is the 1929 result of P. Alexandroff and P. Urysohn [2]: if $f(\alpha) < \alpha$ for all α such that $0 < \alpha < \omega_1$, then f is constant on an uncountable set.

Let us call an ordinal function f regressive if $f(\alpha) < \alpha$ whenever $\alpha > 0$. Fodor's Theorem (Theorem 1.5) states that every regressive function on a stationary set is constant on a stationary set. As a consequence, a set $S \subseteq \omega_1$ is stationary if and only if every regressive function on S is constant on an uncountable set.

In this section we develop the theory of closed unbounded and stationary subsets of a regular uncountable cardinal.

If X is a set of ordinals, then α is a *limit point* of X if $\alpha > 0$ and $\sup(X \cap \alpha) = \alpha$. A set $X \subseteq \kappa$ is *closed* (in the order topology on κ) if and only if X includes $\operatorname{Lim}(X)$, the set of all limit points of X less than κ .

1.1 Definition. Let κ be a regular uncountable cardinal. A set $C \subseteq \kappa$ is *closed unbounded* (or *club* for short) if it is closed and also an unbounded subset of κ . A set $S \subseteq \kappa$ is *stationary* if $S \cap C \neq \emptyset$ for every closed unbounded $C \subseteq \kappa$.

It is easily seen that the intersection of any number of closed sets is closed. The basic observation is that if C_1 and C_2 are both closed unbounded, then $C_1 \cap C_2$ is also closed unbounded. This leads to the following basic property.

1.2 Proposition. The intersection of less than κ closed unbounded subsets of κ is closed unbounded.

Consequently, the closed unbounded sets generate a κ -complete filter on κ called the *closed unbounded* filter. The dual ideal (which is κ -complete and contains all singletons) consists of all sets that are disjoint from some closed unbounded sets – the nonstationary sets, and is thus called the *non-stationary* ideal, denoted I_{NS} .

If I is any nontrivial ideal on κ , then I^+ denotes the set $P(\kappa) - I$ of all *I-positive* sets. Thus stationary subsets of κ are exactly those that are I_{NS} -positive.

1.3 Definition. Let $\langle X_{\alpha} : \alpha < \kappa \rangle$ be a κ -sequence of subsets of κ . Its diagonal intersection is the set

$$\Delta_{\alpha < \kappa} X_{\alpha} = \{ \xi < \kappa : \xi \in \bigcap_{\alpha < \xi} X_{\alpha} \} ;$$

its diagonal union is

$$\Sigma_{\alpha < \kappa} X_{\alpha} = \{ \xi < \kappa : \xi \in \bigcup_{\alpha < \xi} X_{\alpha} \} .$$

The following lemma states that the closed unbounded filter is closed under diagonal intersections (or dually, that the nonstationary ideal is closed under diagonal unions):

1.4 Lemma. If $\langle C_{\alpha} : \alpha < \kappa \rangle$ is a sequence of closed unbounded subsets of κ , then its diagonal intersection is closed unbounded.

This immediately implies Fodor's Theorem:

1.5 Theorem (Fodor [24]). If S is a stationary subset of κ and if f is a regressive function on S, then there exists some $\gamma < \kappa$ such that $f(\alpha) = \gamma$ on a stationary subset of S.

Proof. Let us assume that for each $\gamma < \kappa$ there exists a closed unbounded set C_{γ} such that $f(\alpha) \neq \gamma$ for each $\alpha \in S \cap C_{\gamma}$. Let $C = \Delta_{\gamma < \kappa} C_{\gamma}$. As C is closed unbounded, there exists an $\alpha > 0$ in $S \cap C$. By the definition of C it follows that $f(\alpha) \geq \alpha$, a contradiction.

1. The closed unbounded filter

A nontrivial κ -complete ideal I on κ is called *normal* (and so is its dual filter) if I is closed under diagonal unions; equivalently, if for every $A \in I^+$, every regressive function on A is constant on some I-positive set. Thus Fodor's Theorem (or Lemma 1.4) states that the nonstationary ideal (and the club filter) is normal. In fact, the nonstationary ideal is the smallest normal κ -complete ideal on κ :

1.6 Proposition. If F is a normal κ -complete filter on κ , then F contains all closed unbounded sets.

Proof. If C is a club subset of κ , let $\langle a_{\alpha} : \alpha < \kappa \rangle$ be the increasing enumeration of C. Then

$$C \supseteq \Delta_{\alpha < \kappa} \{ \xi : a_{\alpha+1} < \xi < \kappa \} \in F,$$

because F contains all final segments (being nontrivial and κ -complete). \dashv

In other words, if I is normal, then every I-positive set is stationary.

The quotient algebra $B = P(\kappa)/I_{NS}$ is a κ -complete Boolean algebra, where the Boolean operations $\sum_{\alpha < \gamma}$ and $\prod_{\alpha < \gamma}$ for $\gamma < \kappa$ are induced by $\bigcup_{\alpha < \gamma}$ and $\bigcap_{\alpha < \gamma}$. Fodor's Theorem implies that B is in fact κ^+ -complete: if $\{X_{\alpha} : \alpha < \kappa\}$ is a collection of subsets of κ , then $\Delta_{\alpha < \kappa} X_{\alpha}$ and $\sum_{\alpha < \kappa} X_{\alpha}$ are, respectively, the greatest lower bound and the least upper bound of the equivalence classes $X_{\alpha}/I_{NS} \in B$. This observation also shows that if $\langle X_{\alpha} : \alpha < \kappa \rangle$ and $\langle Y_{\alpha} : \alpha < \kappa \rangle$ are two enumerations of the same collection, then $\Delta_{\alpha} X_{\alpha}$ and $\Delta_{\alpha} Y_{\alpha}$ differ only by a nonstationary set.

The following characterization of the club filter is often useful, in particular when used in its generalized form (see Section 6). Let $F : [\kappa]^{<\omega} \to \kappa$; an ordinal $\gamma < \kappa$ is a *closure point* of F if $F(\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) < \gamma$ whenever $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n < \gamma$. It is easy to see that the set Cl_F of all closure points of Fis a club. Conversely, if C is a club, define $F : [\kappa]^{<\omega} \to \kappa$ by letting F(e) be the least element of C greater than $\max(e)$. It is clear that $Cl_F = \operatorname{Lim}(C)$. Thus every club contains Cl_F for some F, and we have this characterization of the club filter:

1.7 Proposition. The club filter is generated by the sets Cl_F , for all $F : [\kappa]^{<\omega} \to \kappa$. A set $S \subseteq \kappa$ is stationary if and only if for every $F : [\kappa]^{<\omega} \to \kappa$, S contains a closure point of F.

1.2. Splitting stationary sets

It is not immediately obvious that the club filter is not an ultrafilter, that is that there exist stationary sets that are *co-stationary*, i.e. whose complement is stationary. The basic result is the following theorem of Solovay:

1.8 Theorem (Solovay [85]). Let κ be a regular uncountable cardinal. Then every stationary subset of κ can be partitioned into κ disjoint stationary sets.

Solovay's proof of this basic result of combinatorial set theory uses methods of forcing and large cardinals, and we shall describe it later in this section. For an elementary proof, see e.g. [49], p. 434.

To illustrate the combinatorics involved, let us prove a special case of Solovay's theorem.

1.9 Proposition. There exist \aleph_1 pairwise disjoint stationary subsets of ω_1 .

Proof. For every limit ordinal $\alpha < \omega_1$, choose an increasing sequence $\{a_n^{\alpha}\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ with limit α . We claim that there is an n such that for all $\eta < \omega_1$, there are stationary many α such that $a_n^{\alpha} \geq \eta$: Otherwise there exists, for each n, some η_n such that $a_n^{\alpha} \geq \eta_n$ for only a nonstationary set of α 's. By ω_1 -completeness, for all but a nonstationary set of α 's the sequences $\{a_n^{\alpha}\}_n^{\alpha}$ are bounded by $\sup_n \eta_n$. A contradiction.

Thus let *n* be such that for all η , the set $S_{\eta} = \{\alpha : a_n^{\alpha} \geq \eta\}$ is stationary. The function $f(\alpha) = a_n^{\alpha}$ is regressive and so by Fodor's Theorem, there is some $\gamma_{\eta} \geq \eta$ such that $T_{\eta} = \{\alpha : a_n^{\alpha} = \gamma_{\eta}\}$ is stationary. Clearly, there are \aleph_1 distinct values of γ_{η} and therefore \aleph_1 mutually disjoint sets T_{η} . \dashv

Let κ be a regular uncountable cardinal, and let $\lambda < \kappa$ be regular. Let

$$\mathbf{E}_{\lambda}^{\kappa} = \{ \alpha < \kappa : \text{cf } \alpha = \lambda \}.$$

For each λ , $\mathbf{E}_{\lambda}^{\kappa}$ is a stationary set. An easy modification of the proof of 1.9 above shows that for every regular $\lambda < \kappa$, every stationary subset of $\mathbf{E}_{\lambda}^{\kappa}$ can be split into κ disjoint stationary sets.

The union $\bigcup_{\lambda} \mathbf{E}_{\lambda}^{\kappa}$ is the set of all singular limit ordinals. Its complement is the set Reg of all regular cardinals $\alpha < \kappa$. The set Reg is stationary just in case κ is a Mahlo cardinal.

1.3. Generic ultrapowers

Let M be a transitive model of ZFC, and let κ be a cardinal in M. Let U be an M-ultrafilter, i.e. an ultrafilter on the set algebra $P(\kappa) \cap M$. Using functions $f \in M$ on κ , one can form an ultrapower $N = Ult_U(M)$, which is

a model of ZFC but not necessarily well-founded:

$$\begin{array}{ll} f = \ensuremath{^*} g & \Longleftrightarrow & \{\alpha : f(\alpha) = g(\alpha)\} \in U \,, \\ f \in \ensuremath{^*} g & \Longleftrightarrow & \{\alpha : f(\alpha) \in g(\alpha)\} \in U \,. \end{array}$$

The (equivalence classes of) constant functions $c_x(\alpha) = x$ provide an elementary embedding $j: (M, \epsilon) \to (N, \epsilon^*)$, where $j(x) = c_x$, for all $x \in M$.

An *M*-ultrafilter *U* is *M*- κ -complete if it is closed under intersections of families $\{X_{\alpha} : \alpha < \gamma\} \in M$, for all $\gamma < \kappa$; *U* is normal if every regressive $f \in M$ is constant on a set in *U*.

1.10 Proposition. Let U be a nonprincipal M- κ -complete, normal Multrafilter on κ . Then the ordinals of N have a well-ordered initial segment of order type at least $\kappa + 1$, $j(\gamma) = \gamma$ for all $\gamma < \kappa$, and κ is represented in N by the diagonal function $d(\alpha) = \alpha$.

Now let κ be a regular uncountable cardinal and consider the forcing notion (P, <) where P is the collection of all stationary subsets of κ , and the ordering is by inclusion. Let B be the complete Boolean algebra B = B(P), the completion of (P, <). Equivalently, B is the completion of the Boolean algebra $P(\kappa)/I_{NS}$. Let us consider the generic extension V[G] given by a generic $G \subseteq P$. It is rather clear that G is a nonprincipal V- κ -complete normal ultrafilter on κ . Thus Proposition 1.10 applies, where $N = Ult_G(V)$. The model $Ult_G(V)$ is called a generic ultrapower.

There is more on generic ultrapowers in Foreman's chapter in this volume; here we use them to present the original argument of Solovay's [85]. First we prove a lemma (that will be generalized in Section 2):

1.11 Lemma. Let κ be a regular uncountable cardinal, and let S be a stationary set. Then the set

 $T = \{ \alpha \in S : either \ \alpha \notin Reg \ or \ S \cap \alpha \ is \ not \ a \ stationary \ subset \ of \ \alpha \}$

is stationary.

Proof. Let C be a club and let us show that $T \cap C$ is nonempty. Let α be the least element of the nonempty set $S \cap C'$ where $C' = \text{Lim}(C - \omega)$. If α is not regular, then $\alpha \in T \cap C$ and we are done, so assume that $\alpha \in \text{Reg.}$ Now $C' \cap \alpha$ is a club subset of α disjoint from $S \cap \alpha$, and so $\alpha \in T$. \dashv

We shall now outline the proof of Solovay's Theorem:

Proof. (Theorem 1.8.) Let S be a stationary subset of κ that cannot be partitioned into κ disjoint stationary sets. By 1.9 and the remarks following

its proof, we have $S \subseteq$ Reg. Let $I = I_{NS} \upharpoonright S$, i.e. $I = \{X \subseteq \kappa : X \cap S \in I_{NS}\}$. The ideal I is κ -saturated, i.e. every disjoint family $W \subset I^+$ has size less than κ ; equivalently, $B = P(\kappa)/I$ has the κ -chain condition. I is also κ -complete and normal.

Let $G \subset I^+$ be generic, and let $N = Ult_G(V)$ be the generic ultrapower. As I is κ -saturated, N is well-founded (this is proved by showing that every name f for a function in V on κ can be replaced by an actual function on κ). Thus we have (in V[G]) an elementary embedding $j : V \to N$ where N is a transitive class, $j(\gamma) = \gamma$ for all $\gamma < \kappa$, and κ is represented in Nby the diagonal function $d(\alpha) = \alpha$. Note that if $A \subseteq \kappa$ is any set (in V), then $A \in N$: this is because $A = j(A) \cap \kappa$; in fact A is represented by the function $f(\alpha) = A \cap \alpha$.

Now we use the fact that κ -c.c. forcing preserves stationarity (cf. Theorem 1.13 below). Thus S is stationary in V[G], and because $N \subset V[G]$, S is a stationary set in the model N. By the ultrapower theorem we have

 $V[G] \models S \cap \alpha$ is stationary for G-almost all α .

This, translated into forcing, gives

 $\{\alpha \in S : S \cap \alpha \text{ is not stationary}\} \in I$

but that contradicts Lemma 1.11.

Another major application of generic ultrapowers is Silver's Theorem:

1.12 Theorem (Silver [84]). Let λ be a singular cardinal of uncountable cofinality. If $2^{\alpha} = \alpha^+$ for all cardinals $\alpha < \lambda$, then $2^{\lambda} = \lambda^+$.

Silver's Theorem is actually stronger than this. It assumes only that $2^{\alpha} = \alpha^{+}$ for a stationary set of α 's (see Section 2 for the definition of "stationary" when λ is not regular). The proof uses a generic ultrapower. Even though $Ult_G(V)$ is not necessarily well founded, the method of generic ultrapowers enables one to conclude that $2^{\lambda} = \lambda^{+}$ when $2^{\alpha} = \alpha^{+}$ holds almost everywhere.

Silver's Theorem can be proved by purely combinatorial methods [10, 11]. In [30], Galvin and Hajnal used combinatorial properties of stationary sets to prove a substantial generalization of Silver's Theorem (superseded only by Shelah's powerful pcf theory). For further generalizations using stationary sets and generic ultrapowers, see [51] and [52].

One of the concepts introduced in [30] is the *Galvin-Hajnal norm* of an ordinal function. If f and g are ordinal functions on a regular uncountable

 \dashv

cardinal κ , let f < g if $\{\alpha < \kappa : f(\alpha) < g(\alpha)\}$ contains a club. The relation < is a well-founded partial order, and the norm ||f|| is the rank of f in the relation <.

We remark that if f < g, then in the generic ultrapower (by I_{NS}), the ordinal represented by f is smaller than the ordinal represented by g.

By induction on η one can easily show that for each $\eta < \kappa^+$ there exists a *canonical* function $f_\eta : \kappa \to \kappa$ of norm η , i.e. $||f_\eta|| = \eta$ and whenever $||h|| = \eta$, then $\{\alpha : f_\eta(\alpha) \le h(\alpha)\}$ contains a club. (Proof: Let $f_0(\alpha) = 0$, $f_{\eta+1}(\alpha) = f_\eta(\alpha) + 1$. If $\eta < \kappa^+$ is a limit ordinal, let $\lambda = \operatorname{cf} \eta$ and let $\eta = \lim_{\xi \to \lambda} \eta_{\xi}$. If $\lambda < \kappa$, let $f_\eta(\alpha) = \sup_{\xi < \lambda} f_{\eta_{\xi}}(\alpha)$ and if $\lambda = \kappa$, let $f_\eta(\alpha) = \sup_{\xi < \alpha} f_{\eta_{\xi}}(\alpha)$.)

A canonical function of norm κ^+ may or may not exist, but is consistent with ZFC (cf. [53]). The existence of canonical function f_{η} for all η is equiconsistent with a measurable cardinal [50].

1.4. Stationary sets in generic extensions

Let M and N be transitive models and let $M \subseteq N$. Let κ be a regular uncountable cardinal and let $S \in M$ be a subset of κ . Clearly, if S is stationary in the model N, then S is stationary in M; the converse is not necessarily true, and κ may even not be regular or uncountable in N. It is important to know which forcing extensions preserve stationarity and we shall return to the general case in Section 5. For now, we state two important special cases:

1.13 Theorem. Let κ be a regular uncountable cardinal and let P be a notion of forcing.

(a) If P satisfies the κ -chain condition, then every club $C \in V[G]$ has a club subset D in the ground model. Hence every stationary S remains stationary in V[G].

(b) If P is λ -closed for every $\lambda < \kappa$, then every stationary S remains stationary in V[G].

Proof. (outline) (a) This follows from this basic fact on forcing: if P is κ -c.c., then every unbounded $A \subset \kappa$ in V[G] has an unbounded subset in V.

(b) Let $p \Vdash \dot{C}$ is a club; we find a $\gamma \in S$ and a $q \leq p$ such that $q \Vdash \gamma \in \dot{C}$ as follows: we construct an increasing continuous ordinal sequence $\{\gamma_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \kappa}$ and a decreasing sequence $\{p_{\alpha}\}$ of conditions such that $p_{\alpha+1} \Vdash \gamma_{\alpha+1} \in \dot{C}$, and if α is a limit ordinal, then $\gamma_{\alpha} = \lim_{\xi < \alpha} \gamma_{\xi}$ and p_{α} is a lower bound of $\{p_{\xi}\}_{\xi < \alpha}$. There is some limit ordinal α such that $\gamma_{\alpha} \in S$. It follows that $p_{\alpha} \Vdash \gamma_{\alpha} \in \dot{C}$.

We shall now describe the standard way of controlling stationary sets in generic extensions, so called *shooting a club*. First we deal with the simplest case when $\kappa = \aleph_1$. Let S be a stationary subset of ω_1 , and consider the following forcing P_S (cf. [9]): The forcing conditions are all bounded closed sets p of countable ordinals such that $p \subset S$. A condition q is stronger than p if q end-extends p, i.e. $p = q \cap \alpha$ for some α .

It is clear that this forcing produces ("shoots") a closed unbounded subset of S in the generic extension, thus the complement of S becomes nonstationary. The main point of [9] is that ω_1 is preserved and in fact V[G] adds no new countable sets. Also, every stationary subset of S remains stationary.

The forcing P_S has the obvious generalization to $\kappa > \aleph_1$, but more care is required to guarantee that no new small sets of ordinals are added. For instance, this is the case when S contains the set Sing of all singular ordinals $< \kappa$. For a more detailed discussion of this problem see [1].

1.5. Some combinatorial principles

There has been a proliferation of combinatorial principles involving closed unbounded and stationary sets. Most can be traced back to Jensen's investigation of the fine structure of L [59] and generalize either Jensen's diamond (\diamondsuit) or square (\Box). These principles are discussed elsewhere in this volume; we conclude this section by briefly mentioning diamond and *club-guessing*, and only their typical special cases.

1.14 Theorem ($\Diamond(\aleph_1)$), Jensen [59]). Assume V = L. There exists a sequence $\langle a_{\alpha} : \alpha < \omega_1 \rangle$ with each $a_{\alpha} \subseteq \alpha$, such that for every $A \subseteq \omega_1$, the set $\{\alpha < \omega_1 : A \cap \alpha = a_{\alpha}\}$ is stationary.

(Note that every $A \subseteq \omega$ is equal to some a_{α} , and so $\Diamond(\aleph_1)$ implies $2^{\aleph_0} = \aleph_1$.)

1.15 Theorem (\diamond ($\mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\aleph_2}$), Gregory [40]). Assume GCH. There exists a sequence $\langle a_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\aleph_2} \rangle$ with each $a_{\alpha} \subseteq \alpha$, such that for every $A \subseteq \omega_2$, the set $\{\alpha < \omega_2 : A \cap \alpha = a_{\alpha}\}$ is stationary.

1.16 Theorem (Club-guessing, Shelah [82]). There exists a sequence $\langle c_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_1}^{\aleph_3} \rangle$, where each c_{α} is a closed unbounded subset of α , such that for every club $C \subseteq \omega_3$, the set $\{\alpha : c_{\alpha} \subset C\}$ is stationary.

2. Reflection

Unlike most generalizations of square and diamond, Theorem 1.16 is a theorem of ZFC but we note that the gap (between \aleph_1 and \aleph_3) is essential.

2. Reflection

2.1. Reflecting stationary sets

An important property of stationary sets is *reflection*. It is used in several applications, and provides a structure among stationary sets – it induces a well founded hierarchy. Natural questions about reflection and the hierarchy are closely related to large cardinal properties.

We start with a generalization of stationary sets. Let α be a limit ordinal of uncountable cofinality, say cf $\alpha = \kappa > \aleph_0$. A set $S \subseteq \alpha$ is *stationary* if it meets every closed unbounded subset of α . The closed unbounded subsets of α generate a κ -complete filter, and Fodor's Theorem 1.5 yields this:

2.1 Lemma. If f is a regressive function on a stationary set $S \subseteq \alpha$, then there exists a $\gamma < \alpha$ such that $f(\xi) < \gamma$ on a stationary subset of S.

If S is a set of ordinals and α is a limit ordinal such that cf $\alpha > \omega$, we say that S is *stationary in* α if $S \cap \alpha$ is a stationary subset of α .

2.2 Definition. Let κ be a regular uncountable cardinal and let S be a stationary subset of κ . If $\alpha < \kappa$ and cf $\alpha > \omega$, S reflects at α if S is stationary in α . S reflects if it reflects at some $\alpha < \kappa$.

It is implicit in the definition that $\kappa > \aleph_1$.

For our first observation, let $\alpha < \kappa$ be such that cf $\alpha > \omega$. There is a club $C \subseteq \alpha$ of order type cf α such that every element of C has cofinality < cf α . Thus if $S \subseteq \kappa$ is such that every $\beta \in S$ has cofinality \geq cf α , then S does not reflect at α . In particular, if $\kappa = \lambda^+$ where λ is regular, then the stationary set $\mathbf{E}^{\kappa}_{\lambda}$ does not reflect.

On the other hand, if $\lambda < \kappa$ is regular and $\lambda^+ < \kappa$, then $\mathbf{E}^{\kappa}_{\lambda}$ reflects at every $\alpha < \kappa$ such that cf $\alpha > \lambda$.

To investigate reflection systematically, let us first look at the simplest case, when $\kappa = \aleph_2$. Let $E_0 = \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\aleph_2}$ and $E_1 = \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_1}^{\aleph_2}$. The set E_1 does not reflect; can every stationary $S \subseteq E_0$ reflect?

Let us recall Jensen's Square Principle [59]:

 (\Box_{κ}) There exists a sequence $\langle C_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \operatorname{Lim}(\kappa^+) \rangle$ such that

- (i) C_{α} is club in α ,
- (ii) if $\beta \in \text{Lim}(C_{\alpha})$, then $C_{\beta} = C_{\alpha} \cap \beta$,
- (iii) if cf $\alpha < \kappa$, then $|C_{\alpha}| < \kappa$.

Now assume that \Box_{ω_1} holds and let $\langle C_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \text{Lim } (\omega_2) \rangle$ be a square sequence. Note that for each $\alpha \in E_1$, the order type of C_{α} is ω_1 . It follows that there exists a countable limit ordinal η such that the set $S = \{\gamma \in E_0 : \gamma \text{ is the } \eta^{\text{th}} \text{ element of some } C_{\alpha} \}$ is stationary. But for every $\alpha \in E_1$, S has at most one element in common with C_{α} , and so S does not reflect.

Thus \Box_{ω_1} implies that there is a nonreflecting stationary subset of $\mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\aleph_2}$. Since \Box_{ω_1} holds unless \aleph_2 is Mahlo in L, the consistency strength of "every $S \subseteq \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\aleph_2}$ reflects" is at least a Mahlo cardinal. This is in fact the exact strength:

2.3 Theorem (Harrington-Shelah [41]). The following are equiconsistent:

- (i) the existence of a Mahlo cardinal.
- (ii) every stationary set $S \subseteq \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\aleph_2}$ reflects.

Theorem 2.3 improves a previous result of Baumgartner [6] who proved the consistency of (ii) from a weakly compact cardinal. Note that (ii) implies that every stationary set $S \subseteq \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\aleph_2}$ reflects at stationary many $\alpha \in \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_1}^{\aleph_2}$.

A related result of Magidor (to which we return later in this section) gives this equiconsistency:

2.4 Theorem (Magidor [70]). The following are equiconsistent:

- (i) the existence of a weakly compact cardinal,
- (*ii*) every stationary set $S \subseteq \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\aleph_2}$ reflects at almost all $\alpha \in \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_1}^{\aleph_2}$.

Here, "almost all" means all but a nonstationary set.

Let us now address the question whether it is possible that *every* stationary subset of κ reflects. We have seen that this is not the case when κ is the successor of a regular cardinal. Thus κ must be either inaccessible or $\kappa = \lambda^+$ where λ is singular.

Note that because a weakly compact cardinal is Π_1^1 indescribable, every stationary subset of it reflects. In [68], Kunen showed that it is consistent that every stationary $S \subseteq \kappa$ reflects while κ is not weakly compact. In [76] it is shown that the consistency strength of "every stationary subset of κ reflects" is strictly between greatly Mahlo and weakly compact. (For definition of greatly Mahlo, see Section 2.2.)

12

2. Reflection

If, in addition, we require that κ be a successor cardinal, then much stronger assumptions are necessary. The argument we gave above using \Box_{ω_1} works for any κ :

2.5 Proposition (Jensen). If \Box_{λ} holds, then there is a nonreflecting stationary subset of $\mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\lambda^+}$.

As the consistency strength of $\neg \Box_{\lambda}$ for singular λ is at least a strong cardinal (as shown by Jensen), one needs at least that for the consistency of "every stationary $S \subseteq \lambda^+$ reflects". In [70], Magidor proved the consistency of "every stationary subset of $\aleph_{\omega+1}$ reflects" from the existence of infinitely many supercompact cardinals.

We mention the following applications of nonreflecting stationary sets:

2.6 Theorem (Mekler-Shelah [76]). The following are equiconsistent:

- (i) every stationary $S \subseteq \kappa$ reflects,
- (ii) every κ -free abelian group is κ^+ -free.

2.7 Theorem (Tryba [90]). If a regular cardinal κ is Jónsson, then every stationary $S \subseteq \kappa$ reflects.

2.8 Theorem (Todorčević [88]). If Rado's Conjecture holds, then for every regular $\kappa > \aleph_1$, every stationary $S \subseteq \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\kappa}$ reflects.

2.2. A hierarchy of stationary sets

Consider the following operation (the *Mahlo operation*) on stationary sets. For a stationary set $S \subseteq \kappa$, the *trace* of S is the set of all α at which S reflects:

 $Tr(S) = \{ \alpha < \kappa : cf \ \alpha > \omega \text{ and } S \cap \alpha \text{ is stationary} \}.$

The following basic properties of trace are easily verified.

2.9 Lemma. (a) If $S \subseteq T$, then $Tr(S) \subseteq Tr(T)$,

- (b) $Tr(S \cup T) = Tr(S) \cup Tr(T)$,
- (c) $Tr(Tr(S)) \subseteq Tr(S)$,
- (d) if $S \simeq T \mod I_{NS}$, then $Tr(S) \simeq Tr(T) \mod I_{NS}$.

Property (d) shows that the Mahlo operation may be considered as an operation on the Boolean algebra $P(\kappa)/I_{NS}$.

If $\lambda < \kappa$ is regular, let $\mathbf{M}_{\lambda}^{\kappa} = \{\alpha < \kappa : \text{cf } \alpha \geq \lambda\}$, and note that $Tr(\mathbf{E}_{\lambda}^{\kappa}) = Tr(\mathbf{M}_{\lambda}^{\kappa}) = \mathbf{M}_{\lambda^{+}}^{\kappa}$.

The Mahlo operation on $P(\kappa)/I_{NS}$ can be iterated α times, for $\alpha < \kappa^+$. Let

$$M_0 = \kappa$$

$$M_{\alpha+1} = Tr(M_{\alpha})$$

$$M_{\alpha} = \Delta_{\xi < \kappa} M_{\alpha_{\xi}} \qquad (\alpha \text{ limit}, \alpha = \{\alpha_{\xi} : \xi < \kappa\}).$$

The sets M_{α} are defined mod I_{NS} (the limit stages depend on the enumeration of α). The sequence $\{M_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \kappa^{+}}$ is decreasing mod I_{NS} , and when $\alpha < \kappa$, then $M_{\alpha} = \mathbf{M}_{\lambda}^{\kappa}$ where λ is the α^{th} regular cardinal. Note that κ is (weakly) Mahlo just in case $M_{\kappa} = Reg$ is stationary, and that by Lemma 1.11, $\{M_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$ is strictly decreasing (mod I_{NS} , as long as M_{α} is stationary). Following [13], κ is called *greatly Mahlo* if M_{α} is stationary for every $\alpha < \kappa^{+}$.

We shall now consider the following relation between stationary subsets of $\kappa.$

2.10 Definition (Jech [47]).

S < T iff $S \cap \alpha$ is stationary for almost all $\alpha \in T$.

In other words, S < T iff $Tr(S) \supseteq T \mod I_{NS}$. As an example, if $\lambda < \mu$ are regular, then $\mathbf{E}_{\lambda}^{\kappa} < \mathbf{E}_{\mu}^{\kappa}$. Note also that the language of generic ultrapowers gives this description of <:

2.11 Proposition. S < T iff $T \Vdash S$ is stationary in $Ult_G(V)$.

The following lemma states the basic properties of <.

2.12 Lemma. (a) A < Tr(A),

- (b) if A < B and B < C than A < C,
- (c) if $A \simeq A'$ and $B \simeq B' \mod I_{NS}$, and if A < B, then A' < B'.

By (c), < can be considered a relation on $P(\kappa)/I_{NS}$. By Proposition 1.11, < is irreflexive and so it is a partial ordering. The next theorem shows that the partial ordering < is well founded.

2.13 Theorem (Jech [47]). The relation < is well founded.

Proof. Assume to the contrary that there are stationary sets such that $A_1 > A_2 > A_3 > \cdots$. Therefore there are clubs C_n such that $A_n \cap C_n \subseteq Tr(A_{n+1})$

14

2. Reflection

for $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ For each n, let

$$B_n = A_n \cap C_n \cap \operatorname{Lim}(C_{n+1}) \cap \operatorname{Lim}(\operatorname{Lim}(C_{n+2})) \cap \cdots$$

Each B_n is stationary, and for every $n, B_n \subseteq Tr(B_{n+1})$. Let $\alpha_n = \min(B_n)$. Since $B_{n+1} \cap \alpha_n$ is stationary, we have $\alpha_{n+1} < \alpha_n$, and therefore, a decreasing sequence $\alpha_1 > \alpha_2 > \alpha_3 > \cdots$. A contradiction.

As < is well founded, we can define the *order* of stationary sets $A \subseteq \kappa$, and of the cardinal κ :

$$o(A) = \sup\{o(X) + 1 : X < A\},\$$

$$o(\kappa) = \sup\{o(A) + 1 : A \subseteq \kappa \text{ stationary}\}.$$

We also define $o(\aleph_0) = 0$, and $o(\alpha) = o(cf(\alpha))$ for every limit ordinal α .

Note that $o(\mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\kappa}) = 0$, and in general $o(\mathbf{E}_{\lambda}^{\kappa}) = o(\mathbf{M}_{\lambda}^{\kappa}) = \alpha$, if λ is the α^{th} regular cardinal. Also, $o(\aleph_n) = n$, $o(\kappa) \ge \kappa + 1$ iff κ is Mahlo, and $o(\kappa) \ge \kappa^+$ iff κ is greatly Mahlo.

2.3. Canonical stationary sets

If λ is the α^{th} regular cardinal, then $\mathbf{E}_{\lambda}^{\kappa}$ has order α ; moreover, the set is canonical, in the sense explained below. In fact, canonical stationary sets exist for all orders $\alpha < \kappa^+$.

Let *E* be a stationary set of order α . If $X \subseteq E$ is stationary, then $o(X) \ge o(E)$. We call *E* canonical of order α if (i) every stationary $X \subseteq E$ has order α , and (ii) *E* meets every set of order α .

Clearly, a canonical set of order α is unique (mod I_{NS}), and two canonical sets of different orders are disjoint (mod I_{NS}). In the following proposition, "maximal" and \simeq is meant mod I_{NS} .

2.14 Proposition (Jech [47]). A canonical set E of order α exists iff there exists a maximal set M of order α . Then (mod I_{NS})

$$E \simeq M - Tr(M)$$
, $M \simeq E \cup Tr(E)$, and $Tr(E) \simeq Tr(M)$.

One can show that the sets M_{α} obtained by iterating the Mahlo operation are maximal (as long as they are stationary). Thus when we let $E_{\alpha} = M_{\alpha} - Tr(M_{\alpha})$, we get canonical stationary sets, of all orders $\alpha < \kappa^+$ (for $\alpha < o(\kappa)$).

The canonical stationary sets E_{α} and the canonical function f_{α} (of Galvin-Hajnal norm α) are closely related:

2.15 Proposition (Jech [47]). For every $\alpha < \kappa^+$, $\alpha < o(\kappa)$,

$$E_{\alpha} \simeq \{\xi < \kappa : f_{\alpha}(\xi) = o(\xi)\}.$$

2.4. Full reflection

Let us address the question of what is the largest possible amount of reflection, for stationary subsets of a given κ . As A < B means that A reflects at almost all points of B, we would like to maximize the relation <. But A < B implies that o(A) < o(B), so we might ask whether it is possible that A < B for any two stationary sets such that o(A) < o(B).

By Magidor's Theorem 2.4 it is consistent that $S < \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_1}^{\aleph_2}$, and therefore S < T for every S of order 0 and every T of order 1. However, this does not generalize, as the following lemma shows that when $\kappa \geq \aleph_3$, then there exist S and T with o(S) = 0 and o(T) = 1 such that $S \not< T$.

2.16 Lemma (Jech-Shelah [54]). If $\kappa \geq \aleph_3$, then there exist stationary sets $S \subseteq \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\kappa}$ and $T \subseteq \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_1}^{\kappa}$ such that S does not reflect at any $\alpha \in T$.

Proof. Let S_{γ} , $\gamma < \omega_2$, be pairwise disjoint stationary subsets of $\mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\kappa}$, and let C_{α} , $\alpha \in \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_1}^{\kappa}$, be such that for every α , C_{α} is a club subset of α , of order type ω_1 . Because at most \aleph_1 of the sets S_{γ} meet each C_{α} , there exists for each α some $\gamma(\alpha)$ such that $C_{\alpha} \cap S_{\gamma(\alpha)} = \emptyset$.

There exists some γ such that the set $T = \{\alpha : \gamma(\alpha) = \gamma\}$ is stationary; let $S = S_{\gamma}$. For every $\alpha \in T$, $S \cap C_{\alpha} = \emptyset$ and so S does not reflect at α . \dashv

This lemma illustrates some of the difficulties involved when dealing with reflection at singular ordinals. This problem is investigated in detail in [54], where the best possible consistency result is proved for stationary subsets of the \aleph_n , $n < \omega$.

Let us say that a stationary set $S \subseteq \kappa$ reflects fully at regular cardinals if for any stationary set T of regular cardinals o(S) < o(T) implies S < T, and let us call *Full Reflection* the statement that every stationary subset of κ reflects fully at regular cardinals.

Full Reflection is of course nontrivial only if κ is a Mahlo cardinal. A modification of Theorem 2.4 shows that Full Reflection for a Mahlo cardinal is equiconsistent with weak compactness. The following theorem establishes the consistency strength of Full Reflection for cardinals in the Mahlo hierarchy:

3. Saturation

2.17 Theorem (Jech-Shelah [55]). The following are equiconsistent, for every $\alpha \leq \kappa^+$:

- (i) κ is Π^1_{α} -indescribable,
- (ii) κ is α -Mahlo and Full Reflection holds.

(A regular cardinal κ is α -Mahlo if $o(\kappa) \ge \kappa + \alpha$; κ is Π_1^1 -indescribable iff it is weakly compact.)

Full Reflection is also consistent with large cardinals. The paper [57] proves the consistency of Full Reflection with the existence of a measurable cardinal. This has been improved and further generalized in [38].

Finally, the paper [91] shows that any well-founded partial order of size $\leq \kappa^+$ can be realized by the reflection ordering < on stationary subsets of κ , in some generic extension (using $P^2\kappa$ -strong κ in the ground model).

3. Saturation

3.1. κ^+ -saturation

By Solovay's 1.8 every stationary subset of κ can be split into κ disjoint stationary sets. In other words, for every stationary $S \subseteq \kappa$, the ideal $I_{NS} \upharpoonright S$ is not κ -saturated. A natural question is if the nonstationary ideal can be κ^+ -saturated.

An ideal I on κ is κ^+ -saturated if the Boolean algebra $P(\kappa)/I$ has the κ^+ -chain condition. Thus $I_{NS} \upharpoonright S$ is κ^+ -saturated when there do not exist κ^+ stationary subsets of S such that the intersection of any two of them is nonstationary. The existence and properties of κ^+ -saturated ideals have been thoroughly studied since their introduction in [85], and involve large cardinals. The reader will find more details in Foreman's chapter in this volume. We shall concentrate on the special case when I is the nonstationary ideal.

The main question, whether the nonstationary ideal can be κ^+ -saturated, has been answered. But a number of related questions are still open.

3.1 Theorem (Gitik-Shelah [37]). The nonstationary ideal on κ is not κ^+ -saturated, for every regular cardinal $\kappa \geq \aleph_2$.

3.2 Theorem (Shelah). It is consistent, relative to the existence of a Woodin cardinal, that the nonstationary ideal on \aleph_1 is \aleph_2 -saturated.

The consistency result in Theorem 3.2 was first proved in [87] using a strong determinacy assumption. That hypothesis was reduced in [92] to AD, while in [27], the assumption was the existence of a supercompact cardinal. Shelah's result (announced in [81]) is close to optimal: by Steel [86], the saturation of I_{NS} plus the existence of a measurable cardinal imply the existence of an inner model with a Woodin cardinal.

All the models mentioned in the preceding paragraph satisfy $2^{\aleph_0} > \aleph_1$. This may not be accidental, and it has been conjectured that the saturation of I_{NS} on \aleph_1 implies that $2^{\aleph_0} > \aleph_1$. In fact, Woodin proved this [94] under the addional assumption that there exists a measurable cardinal. We note in passing that by [27], $2^{\aleph_0} = \aleph_1$ is consistent with $I_{NS} \upharpoonright S$ being saturated for some stationary S.

Woodin's construction [94] yields a model (starting from AD) in which the ideal I_{NS} is \aleph_1 -dense, i.e. the algebra $P(\omega_1)/I_{NS}$ has a dense set of size \aleph_1 . This, and Woodin's more recent work using Steel's inner model theory, gives the following equiconsistency.

3.3 Theorem (Woodin). The following are equiconsistent:

- (i) ZF + AD,
- (ii) there are infinitely many Woodin cardinals,
- (iii) the nonstationary ideal on \aleph_1 is \aleph_1 -dense.

As for the continuum hypothesis, Shelah proved in [80] that if I_{NS} is \aleph_1 -dense, then $2^{\aleph_0} = 2^{\aleph_1}$.

We remark that the mere existence of a saturated ideal affects cardinal arithmetic, cf. [63] and [52].

Let us now return to Theorem 3.1. The general result proved in [37] is this:

3.4 Theorem (Gitik-Shelah [37]). If ν is a regular cardinal and $\nu^+ < \kappa$, then $I_{NS} \upharpoonright \mathbf{E}_{\nu}^{\kappa}$ is not κ^+ -saturated.

The proof of 3.4 combines an earlier result of Shelah (Theorem 3.7 below) with an application of the method of guessing clubs (as in 1.16). The earlier result uses generic ultrapowers and states that if $\kappa = \lambda^+$ and $\nu \neq \text{cf } \lambda$ is regular, then no ideal concentrating on $\mathbf{E}_{\nu}^{\kappa}$ is κ^+ -saturated.

The method of generic ultrapowers is well suited for κ^+ -saturated ideals. Forcing with $P(\kappa)/I$ where I is a normal κ -complete κ^+ -saturated ideal makes the generic ultrapower $N = Ult_G(V)$ well founded, preserves the cardinal κ^+ , and satisfies $P^N(\kappa) = P^{V[G]}(\kappa)$. It follows that all cardinals

3. Saturation

 $< \kappa$ are preserved in V[G], and it is obvious that if $\mathbf{E}_{\nu}^{\kappa} \in G$, then N (and therefore V[G] as well) satisfies cf $\kappa = \nu$.

Shelah's Theorem 3.7 below follows from a simple combinatorial lemma. Let λ be a cardinal and let $\alpha < \lambda^+$ be a limit ordinal. Let us call a family $\{X_{\xi} : \xi < \lambda^+\}$ a strongly almost disjoint (s.a.d.) family of subsets of α if every $X_{\xi} \subseteq \alpha$ is unbounded, and if for every $\vartheta < \lambda^+$ there exist ordinals $\delta_{\xi} < \alpha$, for $\xi < \vartheta$, such that the sets $X_{\xi} - \delta_{\xi}$, $\xi < \vartheta$, are pairwise disjoint. Note that if κ is a regular cardinal than there is a s.a.d. family $\{X_{\xi} : \xi < \kappa^+\}$ of subsets of κ .

3.5 Lemma. If $\alpha < \lambda^+$ and $cf \alpha \neq cf \lambda$, then there exists no strongly almost disjoint family of subsets of α .

Proof. Assume to the contrary that $\{X_{\xi} : \xi < \lambda^+\}$ is a s.a.d. family of subsets of α . We may assume that each X_{ξ} has order type of α . Let f be a function mapping λ onto α . Since of $\lambda \neq$ of α there exists for each ξ some $\gamma_{\xi} < \lambda$ such that $X_{\xi} \cap f^* \gamma_{\xi}$ is cofinal in α . There is some γ and a set $W \subset \lambda^+$ of size λ such that $\gamma_{\xi} = \gamma$ for all $\xi \in W$. Let $\vartheta > \sup W$. By the assumption on the X_{ξ} there exist ordinals $\delta_{\xi} < \alpha, \xi < \vartheta$, such that the $X_{\xi} - \delta_{\xi}$ are pairwise disjoint. Thus $f^{-1}(X_{\xi} - \delta_{\xi}), \xi \in W$, are λ pairwise disjoint subsets of γ . A contradiction.

3.6 Corollary (Shelah [79]). If κ is a regular cardinal and if a forcing P makes of $\kappa \neq cf |\kappa|$, then P collapses κ^+ .

Proof. Assume that κ^+ is not collapsed; thus in V[G], $(\kappa^+)^V = \lambda^+$ where $\lambda = |\kappa|$. In V there is a s.a.d. family $\{X_{\xi} : \xi < (\kappa^+)^V\}$, and it remains a s.a.d. family in V[G], of size λ^+ . Since cf $\kappa \neq$ cf λ , in V[G], this contradicts Lemma 3.5.

3.7 Theorem (Shelah). If $\kappa = \lambda^+$, if $\nu \neq cf \lambda$ is regular and if I is a normal κ -complete κ^+ -saturated ideal on κ , then $\mathbf{E}_{\nu}^{\kappa} \in I$.

Proof. If not, then forcing with *I*-positive subsets of $\mathbf{E}_{\nu}^{\kappa}$ preserves κ^+ as well as cf λ , and makes cf $\kappa = \nu$; a contradicton.

Theorem 3.4 leaves open the following problem: If λ is a regular cardinal, can $I_{NS} \upharpoonright \mathbf{E}_{\lambda}^{\lambda^+}$ be λ^{++} -saturated? (For instance can $I_{NS} \upharpoonright \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_1}^{\aleph_2}$ be \aleph_3 saturated?) Let us also mention that for all regular ν and κ not excluded by Corollary 3.7, it is consistent that $I_{NS} \upharpoonright S$ is κ^+ -saturated for some $S \subset \mathbf{E}_{\nu}^{\kappa}$ (see [33]). If κ is a large cardinal, then $I_{NS} \upharpoonright Reg$ can be κ^+ -saturated, as the following theorem shows. Of course, κ cannot be too large: if κ is greatly Mahlo, then the canonical stationary sets $E_{\alpha} \kappa \leq \alpha < \kappa^+$ witness nonsaturation.

3.8 Theorem (Jech-Woodin [58]). For any $\alpha < \kappa^+$, the following are equiconsistent:

- (i) κ is measurable of order α ,
- (ii) κ is α -Mahlo and the ideal $I_{NS} \upharpoonright Reg$ on κ is κ^+ -saturated.

3.2. Precipitousness

An important property of saturated ideals is that the generic ultrapower is well-founded. It has been recognized that this property is important enough to single out and study the class of ideals that have it. The ideals for which the generic ultrapower is well founded are called *precipitous*. They are described in detail in Foreman's chapter in this volume; here we address the question of when the nonstationary ideal is precipitous.

Precipitous ideals were introduced by Jech and Prikry in [51]. There are several equivalent formulations of precipitousness. Let I be an ideal on some set E. An *I*-partition is a maximal family of *I*-positive sets such that the intersection of any two of them is in I. Let \mathcal{G}_I denote the infinite game of two players who alternately pick *I*-positive sets S_n such that $S_1 \supseteq S_2 \supseteq S_3 \supseteq \cdots$. The first player wins if $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} S_n = \emptyset$.

3.9 Theorem (Jech-Prikry [51, 45, 46, 29]). Let I be an ideal on a set E. The following are equivalent:

(i) forcing with P(E)/I makes the generic ultrapower well-founded,

(ii) for every sequence $\{W_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ of *I*-partitions there exists a sequence $\{X_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ such that $X_n \in W_n$ for each n, and $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} X_n \neq \emptyset$,

(iii) the first player does not have a winning strategy in the game \mathcal{G}_I .

The problem of whether the nonstationary ideal on κ can be precipitous involves large cardinals. For $\kappa = \aleph_1$ the exact consistency strength is the existence of a measurable cardinal:

3.10 Theorem (Jech-Magidor-Mitchell-Prikry [50]). *The following are equiconsistent:*

- (i) there exists a measurable cardinal,
- (ii) the nonstationary ideal on \aleph_1 is precipitous.

20

For $\kappa \geq \aleph_2$, stronger large cardinal assumptions are involved. For $\kappa = \aleph_2$, the consistency strength is a measurable of order 2:

3.11 Theorem (Gitik [31]). The following are equiconsistent:

- (i) there exists a measurable cardinal of order 2,
- (ii) I_{NS} on \aleph_2 is precipitous.

For the general case, the paper [47] provided lower bounds for the consistency strength of " I_{NS} is precipitous," in terms of the Mitchell order, while models with I_{NS} precipitous for $\kappa > \aleph_2$ were constructed in [33] and [27] from strong assumptions. In [35] and [36], Gitik established the exact consistency strength of " I_{NS} on κ is precipitous" when κ is the successor of a regular cardinal λ (the existence of an $(\omega, \lambda + 1)$ -repeat point), as well as nearly optimal lower and upper consistency bounds for κ inaccessible. Additional lower bounds for the case $\kappa = \lambda^+$ where λ is a large cardinal appear in [95].

The problem of whether the nonstationary ideal on κ can be precipitous while κ is measurable was first addressed by Kakuda in [61] who proved that many measurables are necessary. This lower bound was improved to having Mitchell order $\kappa^+ + 1$ in [47], and to a repeat point in [34]. Gitik's paper also shows that the existence of a supercompact cardinal suffices for the consistency of the nonstationary ideal on a supercompact cardinal being precipitous.

4. The closed unbounded filter on $P_{\kappa}\lambda$

4.1. Closed unbounded sets in $P_{\kappa}A$

One of the useful tools of combinatorial set theory is a generalization of the concepts of closed unbounded set and stationary set. This generalization, introduced in [43] and [44], replaces $\langle \kappa, \langle \rangle$ with $\langle P_{\kappa}\lambda, \subset \rangle$, and is justified by the fact that the crucial Theorem 1.5 remains true under the generalization.

Let κ be a regular uncountable cardinal and let A be a set of cardinality at least κ . Let $P_{\kappa}A$ denote the set $\{x : x \subset A \text{ and } |x| < \kappa\}$. Furthermore, we let $[X]^{\nu} = \{x \subseteq X : |x| = \nu\}$ whenever $|X| \ge \nu$ and ν an infinite cardinal.

4.1 Definition (Jech [44]). Let κ be a regular uncountable cardinal and let $|A| \ge \kappa$.

A set $X \subseteq P_{\kappa}A$ is unbounded (in $P_{\kappa}A$) if for every $x \in P_{\kappa}A$ there is a $y \supset x$ such that $y \in X$.

A set $X \subseteq P_{\kappa}A$ is *closed* (in $P_{\kappa}A$) if for any chain $x_0 \subseteq x_1 \subseteq \cdots \subseteq x_{\xi} \subseteq \cdots$, $\xi < \alpha$, of sets in X, with $\alpha < \kappa$, the union $\bigcup_{\xi < \alpha} x_{\xi}$ is in X.

A set $C \subseteq P_{\kappa}A$ is closed unbounded if it is closed and unbounded.

A set $S \subseteq P_{\kappa}A$ is stationary (in $P_{\kappa}A$) if $S \cap C \neq \emptyset$ for every closed unbounded $C \subseteq P_{\kappa}A$.

The closed unbounded filter on $P_{\kappa}A$ is the filter generated by the closed unbounded sets. We remark that when $A = \kappa$, then the set $\kappa \subset P_{\kappa}\kappa$ is closed unbounded, and the club filter on κ is the restriction to κ of the club filter on $P_{\kappa}\kappa$. As before, the basic observation is that the intersection of two clubs is a club, and we have again:

4.2 Proposition. The club filter on $P_{\kappa}A$ is κ -complete.

For the generalization of Theorem 1.5, let us first define the *diagonal* intersection.

$$\Delta_{a \in A} X_a = \{ x \in P_\kappa A : x \in \bigcap_{a \in x} X_a \}.$$

The generalization of Lemma 1.4 is this:

4.3 Lemma. If $\langle C_a : a \in A \rangle$ is a sequence of closed unbounded sets in $P_{\kappa}A$, then its diagonal intersection is closed unbounded.

Again, this lemma immediately implies the appropriate generalization of Theorem 1.5:

4.4 Theorem (Jech [44]). If S is a stationary set in $P_{\kappa}A$ and if f is a function on S such that $f(x) \in x$ for every $x \in S - \{\emptyset\}$, then there exists some $a \in A$ such that f(x) = a on a stationary subset of S.

In Proposition 1.6 we showed that the club filter is the smallest normal filter on κ . We shall now do the same for $P_{\kappa}A$. A κ -complete filter F on $P_{\kappa}A$ is *normal* if for every $a \in A$, $\{x \in P_{\kappa}A : a \in x\} \in F$, and if F is closed under diagonal intersections.

The following fact (proved by induction on |D|) is quite useful; D is \subseteq -*directed* if for any $x, y \in D$ there is a $z \in D$ such that $x \cup y \subseteq z$.

4.5 Proposition. If X is a closed set in $P_{\kappa}A$, then for any \subseteq -directed D with $|D| < \kappa, \bigcup D \in X$.

22

Let $f : [A]^{<\omega} \to P_{\kappa}A$; a set $x \in P_{\kappa}A$ is a *closure point* of f is $f(e) \subseteq x$ whenever $e \subseteq x$. The set Cl_f of all closure points $x \in P_{\kappa}A$ is easily seen to be a club. More importantly, the sets Cl_f generate the club filter:

4.6 Proposition (Menas [77]). For every closed unbounded set in $P_{\kappa}A$ there is an $f : [A]^{<\omega} \to P_{\kappa}A$ such that $Cl_f \subseteq C$.

Proof. By induction on |e| we find an infinite set $f(e) \in C$ such that $e \subset f(e)$ and that $f(e') \subseteq f(e)$ whenever $e' \subset e$. To see that $Cl_f \subseteq C$, let x be a closure point of f. As $x = \bigcup \{f(e) : e \in [x]^{<\omega}\}$ is the union of a small \subseteq -directed subset of C, we have $x \in C$.

4.7 Corollary (Carr [18]). If F is a normal κ -complete filter on $P_{\kappa}A$, then F contains all closed unbounded sets.

Proof. Let F^+ denote the F-positive sets, those whose complement is not in F. A consequence of normality is that if $X \in F^+$ and g is a function on X such that $g(x) \in [x]^{<\omega}$ for all $x \in X$, then g is constant on a set in F^+ .

Now assume that there is a club not in F. Thus there is an $f : A \to P_{\kappa}A$ such that the complement X of Cl_f is F-positive. For each $x \in X$ there is some $e = g(x) \in [x]^{<\omega}$ such that $f(e) \nsubseteq x$. Therefore there is some e such that $\{x : f(e) \nsubseteq x\} \in F^+$. This is a contradiction, because $\{x : f(e) \subseteq x\} \in$ F.

As another consequence of Proposition 4.6 we consider *projections* and *liftings* of stationary sets. Let $A \subseteq B$ (and $|A| \ge \kappa$). For $X \in P_{\kappa}B$, the *projection* of X is the set

$$X \upharpoonright A = \{x \cap A : x \in X\};$$

for $Y \in P_{\kappa}A$, the *lifting* of Y is

$$Y^B = \{ x \in P_{\kappa}B : x \cap A \in Y \}.$$

4.8 Proposition (Menas [77]). Let $A \subseteq B$.

- (i) If S is stationary in $P_{\kappa}B$, then $S \upharpoonright A$ is stationary in $P_{\kappa}A$.
- (ii) If S is stationary in $P_{\kappa}A$, then S^B is stationary in $P_{\kappa}B$.

Proof. (i) is easy and holds because if C is a club in $P_{\kappa}A$, then C^B is a club in $P_{\kappa}B$. For (ii), it suffices to prove that if C is a club in $P_{\kappa}B$, then $C \upharpoonright A$ contains a club in $P_{\kappa}A$.

If $C \subseteq P_{\kappa}B$ is a club, by Proposition 4.6 there is an $f : [B]^{<\omega} \to P_{\kappa}B$ such that $Cl_f \subseteq C$. Let $g : [A]^{<\omega} \to P_{\kappa}A$ be as follows: let g(E) = (the f-closure of e) $\cap A$. Since $Cl_f \upharpoonright A = Cl_g$, we have $Cl_g \subseteq C \upharpoonright A$. \dashv

When $\kappa = \aleph_1$, Proposition 4.6 can be improved by replacing f by a function with values in A, i.e. an operation on A. For $f : [A]^{<\omega} \to A$, let Cl_f denote the set $\{x : f(e) \in x \text{ whenever } e \subseteq x\}$. The following characterization of the club filter on $P_{\omega_1}A$ was given in [66]; this and [67] used $P_{\omega_1}A$ in the study of model theory.

4.9 Theorem (Kueker [66]). The club filter on $P_{\omega_1}A$ is generated by the sets Cl_F where $F: [A]^{<\omega} \to A$.

When $\kappa > \aleph_1$, then the clubs Cl_F where $F : [A]^{<\omega} \to A$, do not generate the club filter: every F has countable closure points while the set of all uncountable $x \in P_{\kappa}A$ is closed unbounded. However, a slight modification of Theorem 4.9 works, namely Proposition 4.10 below. Let us call the club Cl_F for $F : [A]^{<\omega} \to A$ strongly closed unbounded.

Let us consider $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ where $\lambda \geq \kappa$. We note that the set

 $\{x \in P_{\kappa}\lambda : x \cap \kappa \in \kappa\}$

is closed unbounded. It turns out that the club filter is generated by adding this set to the filter generated by the strongly club sets.

4.10 Proposition ([27]). For every club C in $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ there exists a function $F: [\lambda]^{<\omega} \to \lambda$ such that

$$\{x \in P_{\kappa}\lambda : x \cap \kappa \in \kappa \text{ and } F^{*}[x]^{<\omega} \subseteq x\} \subseteq C.$$

Now let us consider $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ for $\kappa = \nu^+$ where ν is uncountable. As the set $[\lambda]^{\nu}$ is closed unbounded in $P_{\nu^+}\lambda$, let us consider the restriction of the club filter to $[\lambda]^{\nu}$. We say that a set $S \subseteq [\lambda]^{\nu}$ is *weakly stationary* if it meets every strongly club set. It turns out that the question whether weakly stationary sets are stationary involves large cardinals. By Proposition 4.10, this question depends on whether the set $\{x \in [\lambda]^{\nu} : x \cap \nu^+ \in \nu^+\}$ is in the strongly club filter. The following reformulation, implicit in [27], establishes the relation to large cardinals:

4.11 Proposition. There exists a weakly stationary nonstationary set in $[\lambda]^{\nu}$ if and only if the (nonstationary) set $\{x \in [\lambda]^{\nu} : x \not\supseteq \nu\}$ is weakly stationary.

4.12 Corollary. The following are equivalent:

- (i) The club filter on $[\omega_2]^{\aleph_1}$ is not generated by strongly club sets,
- (ii) Chang's Conjecture.

4.2. Splitting stationary sets

Let us now address the question whether stationary sets can be split into a large number of disjoint stationary sets. In particular, does Theorem 1.8 generalize to $P_{\kappa}A$? As only the size of A matters, and the club filter on $P_{\kappa}\kappa$ is basically just the club filter on κ , we shall consider subsets of $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ where λ is a cardinal and $\lambda > \kappa$.

We have $|P_{\kappa}\lambda| = \lambda^{<\kappa}$ and so the maximal possible size of a disjoint family of subsets of $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ is $\lambda^{<\kappa}$. While it is consistent that every stationary set splits into $\lambda^{<\kappa}$ disjoint stationary subsets (see Corollary 4.18), this is not provable in ZFC. The reason is that there may exist closed unbounded sets in $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ whose size is less than $\lambda^{<\kappa}$. For instance, [8] shows that there exists a club in $P_{\omega_3}\omega_4$ of size $\aleph_4^{\aleph_1}$; thus if $2^{\aleph_2} > 2^{\aleph_1} \cdot \aleph_4$, then $P_{\omega_3}\omega_4$ is not the union of $\aleph_4^{<\aleph_3}$ disjoint stationary sets. An earlier result [12] proved the consistency of a stationary set $S \subseteq P_{\omega_1}\omega_2$ such that $I_{NS} \upharpoonright S$ is 2^{\aleph_0} -saturated.

A modification of Solovay's proof, using the generic ultrapower by ${\cal I}_{NS},$ gives this:

4.13 Theorem (Gitik [32]). Every stationary subset of $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ can be partitioned into κ disjoint stationary sets.

The question of splitting stationary sets has been more or less completely solved for splitting into λ sets. Let us first observe that the nonexistence of λ disjoint stationary sets is equivalent to λ -saturation:

4.14 Lemma. If X_{α} , $\alpha < \lambda$, are stationary sets in $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ such that $X_{\alpha} \cap X_{\beta} \in I_{NS}$ for all $\alpha \neq \beta$, then there exist pairwise disjoint stationary sets Y_{α} with $Y_{\alpha} \subseteq X_{\alpha}$ for all $\alpha < \lambda$.

Proof. Let $Y_{\alpha} = X_{\alpha} \cap \{x : \alpha \in x \text{ and } \forall \beta \in x (\beta \neq \alpha \rightarrow x \notin X_{\beta})\}.$

A long succession of results by Jech [44], Menas [77], Baumgartner, DiPrisco and Marek [19], Matsubara [72], [73] established the following:

4.15 Theorem. (i) $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ can be partitioned into λ disjoint stationary sets.

(ii) If κ is a successor cardinal, than every stationary subset of $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ can be partitioned into λ disjoint stationary sets.

(iii) If $0^{\#}$ does not exist, then every stationary subset of $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ can be partitioned into λ disjoint stationary sets.

A complete proof of this theorem can be found in Kanamori's book [62]. The results (ii) and (iii) are best possible, in the following sense: **4.16 Theorem** (Gitik [32]). It is consistent, relative to a supercompact cardinal, that κ is inaccessible, $\lambda > \kappa$, and some stationary set $S \subset P_{\kappa}\lambda$ cannot be partitioned into κ^+ disjoint stationary subsets.

(For a simplification of Gitik's proof, as well as further results, see [83].)

The proof of Theorem 4.15 involves the following set, which clearly is stationary:

$$S_0 = \{ x \in P_{\kappa}\lambda : |x \cap \kappa| = |x| \}.$$

This stationary set can be partitioned into λ disjoint stationary sets, and if either $\kappa = \nu^+$ or $0^{\#}$ does not exist, then S_0 contains a club (cf. [62]).

Clearly, in Gitik's model the set S_0 does not contain a club. Thus the statement that for some κ and λ ,

$$\{x \in P_{\kappa}\lambda : |x \cap \kappa| < |x|\}$$

is stationary, is a consistent large cardinal statement. Its exact consistency strength (between $0^{\#}$ and Ramsey) is pinned down in [5] and [20].

As for splitting into $\lambda^{<\kappa}$ sets, the following result of Matsubara together with Theorem 4.15 proves the consistency result mentioned earlier:

4.17 Proposition (Matsubara [74]). Assume GCH. If $cf \ \lambda < \kappa$, then every stationary subset of $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ can be partitioned into λ^+ disjoint stationary sets.

4.18 Corollary. Assume GCH and that $0^{\#}$ does not exist. Then every stationary subset of $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ can be partitioned into $\lambda^{<\kappa}$ disjoint stationary sets.

4.3. Saturation

By Theorem 4.15, the nonstationary ideal on $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ is not λ -saturated (even though $I_{NS} \upharpoonright S$ can be κ^+ -saturated for some S). The next question is whether it can be λ^+ -saturated, and the answer is again no.

4.19 Theorem (Foreman-Magidor [26]). For every regular uncountable cardinal κ and every cardinal $\lambda > \kappa$, the nonstationary ideal on $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ is not λ^+ -saturated.

We note that special cases of this theorem have been proved earlier, cf. [4], [73], [60] and [17].

When dealing with λ^+ -saturation, we naturally employ generic ultrapowers and use the fact that the ultrapower is well founded; a normal λ^+ saturated ideal on $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ is precipitous. The nonstationary ideal on $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ (for regular λ) can be precipitous. The consistency, a result of Goldring [39], is relative to a Woodin cardinal, and strengthens an earlier result in [27]. On the other hand, the paper [75] gives instances of κ and λ for which I_{NS} on $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ cannot be precipitous.

5. Proper forcing and other applications

5.1. Proper forcing

One of the most fruitful applications of the club filter on $P_{\omega_1}A$ is Shelah's concept of *proper forcing*. As proper forcing is discussed in detail in Abraham's chapter in this volume, I shall only give a brief account in this section. The rest of Section 5 deals with applications of the club filter on $P_{\omega_1}A$ in the theory of Boolean algebras.

When dealing with closed unbounded sets in $P_{\omega_1}A$ we may as well restrict ourselves to infinite sets, and thus consider the space $[A]^{\aleph_0}$ (where A is an uncountable set). By Kueker's Theorem 4.9, a set $X \subseteq [A]^{\aleph_0}$ is in the club filter just in case it contains the set Cl_F of all closure points of some operation on A. Equivalently, X contains all elementary submodels of some model with universe A. A useful modification of this is the following consequence of Proposition 4.8.

5.1 Proposition. A set $X \subseteq [A]^{\aleph_0}$ is in the club filter if for some sufficiently large λ , X contains $M \cap A$, for all countable $M \prec \mathcal{H}_{\lambda}$ such that $A \in M$.

Here $\mathcal{H}_{\lambda} = \langle H_{\lambda}, \in \rangle$ where H_{λ} is the set of all sets hereditarily of power $\langle \lambda;$ "sufficiently large" means $2^{|TC(A)|} \langle \lambda.$

Let us now turn to proper forcing. First we remark that the preservation theorem 1.13 generalizes to $[A]^{\aleph_0}$:

5.2 Theorem. (a) If P satisfies ccc, then every club $C \in V[G]$ in $[A]^{\aleph_0}$ has a club subset in the ground model. Hence every stationary subset of $[A]^{\aleph_0}$ remains stationary in V[G].

(b) If P is countably closed, then every stationary subset of $[A]^{\aleph_0}$ remains stationary in V[G].

For a proof, we refer the reader to [7], Theorem 2.3, or [48] p. 87. This leads to the important definition, cf. [79]:

5.3 Definition. A notion of forcing P is proper if for every uncountable set A, every stationary subset of $[A]^{\aleph_0}$ remains stationary in V[G].

There are several equivalent definitions of properness, most using the club filter on $[A]^{\aleph_0}$. Let me state one of them (see [79], p. 77, [48], p. 97):

5.4 Proposition. A complete Boolean algebra B is proper if and only if for every nonzero $a \in B$ for every uncountable λ and every collection $\{a_{\alpha\beta} : \alpha, \beta < \lambda\}$ such that $\sum_{\beta < \lambda} a_{\alpha\beta} = a$ for every $\alpha < \lambda$, there exists a club $C \subseteq [\lambda]^{\aleph_0}$ such that $\prod_{\alpha \in x} \sum_{\beta \in x} a_{\alpha\beta} \neq 0$ for all $x \in C$.

5.2. Projective and Cohen Boolean algebras

The club filter on $[A]^{\aleph_0}$ turns out to be a useful tool in the study of Boolean algebras. Here we present a uniform approach to the investigation of two related concepts, projective and Cohen Boolean algebras. For simplicity, we consider only atomless Boolean algebras of uniform density.

5.5 Definition. (a) A Boolean algebra B is *projective* if for some Boolean algebra C, the free product $B \oplus C$ is a free Boolean algebra.

(b) A Boolean algebra B is a *Cohen algebra* if its completion is isomorphic to the completion of a free Boolean algebra.

Projective algebras have several other (equivalent) definitions and are projective in the sense of universal algebra; we refer to [64] for details. Forcing with Cohen algebras adds Cohen reals. In the present context, it is the following equivalences that make these two classes interesting: Let A be a subalgebra of a Boolean algebra B. A is a relatively complete subalgebra of B, $A \leq_{rc} B$, if for each $b \in B$ there is a smallest element $a \in A$ such that $b \leq a$. A is a regular subalgebra of B, $A \leq_{reg} B$, if every maximal antichain in A is maximal in B. Let $\langle A_1 \cup A_2 \rangle$ denote the subalgebra generated by $A_1 \cup A_2$.

5.6 Theorem. (a) (Ščepin [78]) A Boolean algebra B is projective if and only if the set $\{A \in [B]^{\aleph_0} : A \leq_{rc} B\}$ contains a club C with the property that for all $A_1, A_2 \in C$, $\langle A_1 \cup A_2 \rangle \in C$.

(b) (Koppelberg [65], Balcar-Jech-Zapletal [3]) A Boolean algebra B is Cohen if and only if the set $\{A \in [B]^{\aleph_0} : A \leq_{reg} B\}$ contains a club with the property that for all $A_1, A_2 \in C$, $\langle A_1 \cup A_2 \rangle \in C$.

This leads naturally to the following concepts:

5.7 Definition. (a) (Ščepin) A Boolean algebra *B* is *openly generated* if the set $\{A \in [B]^{\aleph_0} : A \leq_{rc} B\}$ contains a club.

(b) (Fuchino-Jech) A Boolean algebra B is *semi-Cohen* if the set $\{A \in [B]^{\aleph_0} : A \leq_{reg} B\}$ contains a club.

6. Reflection

Openly generated (also called rc-filtered) and semi-Cohen Boolean algebras are investigated systematically in [42] and [3], respectively.

Our first observation is that every projective algebra is openly generated and every Cohen algebra is semi-Cohen; and if $|B| = \aleph_1$ and B is openly generated (or semi-Cohen), then B is projective (or Cohen). Because a σ -closed forcing preserves stationary sets in $[B]^{\aleph_0}$ (by Theorem 5.2), we have:

5.8 Corollary. B is openly generated (resp. semi-Cohen) iff $V^P \vDash B$ is projective (resp. Cohen), where P is the σ -closed collapse of |B| onto \aleph_1 .

An immediate consequence is that the completion of a semi-Cohen algebra is semi-Cohen.

Using some simple algebra and Proposition 4.8, one can show that every rc-subalgebra of an openly generated algebra is openly generated and every regular subalgebra of a semi-Cohen algebra is semi-Cohen. Consequently, we have:

5.9 Corollary. (a) (Sčepin) If B is projective and $A \leq_{rc} B$ has size \aleph_1 , then A is projective.

(b) (Koppelberg) If B is a Cohen algebra and $A \leq_{reg} B$ has size \aleph_1 , then A is Cohen.

Finally, the use of the club filter yields a simple proof of the following theorem:

5.10 Theorem. (a) (Ščepin [78], Fuchino [28]) The union of any continuous \leq_{rc} -chain of openly generated algebras is openly generated.

(b) (Balcar-Jech-Zapletal [3]) The union of any continuous \leq_{reg} -chain of semi-Cohen algebras is semi-Cohen.

Proof. Let *B* be the union and let λ be sufficiently large; by Proposition 5.1 it suffices to show that for every countable $M \prec \mathcal{H}_{\lambda}$ such that $B \in M$, $B \cap M$ is a relatively complete (resp. regular) subalgebra of *B*. It is not very difficult to prove this. \dashv

6. Reflection

In Section 2 we introduced the important concept of reflection. One can expect that its generalization to $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ will be equally important. This is

indeed the case, and in particular, reflection of stationary sets in $[\lambda]^{\aleph_0}$ at sets of cardinality \aleph_1 plays a significant role in applications of Martin's Maximum.

Let us begin with a generalization of reflection of which very little is known (see [56] for a consistency result): Let κ be inaccessible, and let $\lambda > \kappa$. For each $x \in P_{\kappa}\lambda$, let $\kappa_x = x \cap \kappa$; note that for almost all x, κ_x is a cardinal. When κ_a is regular uncountable, we say that a stationary Sreflects at a if $S \cap P_{\kappa_a} a$ is a stationary subset of $P_{\kappa_a} a$.

The following argument shows that there are limitations to reflection: Let $S \subseteq \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\lambda}$ and $T \subseteq \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_1}^{\lambda}$ be such that S does not reflect at any $\alpha \in T$ (see Lemma 2.16). Let $\widehat{S} = \{x \in P_{\kappa}\lambda : \sup x \in S\}$ and $\widehat{T} = \{a \in P_{\kappa}\lambda : \sup a \in T\}$. Then \widehat{S} does not reflect at any $a \in \widehat{T}$.

A similar generalization leads to significant results in the large cardinal theory and we shall now investigate this generalization.

6.1. Reflection principles

In [27], Foreman, Magidor and Shelah introduced Martin's Maximum and proved a number of consequences. Let us recall that *Martin's Maximum* (MM) states that whenever P is a notion of forcing that preserves stationary subsets of \aleph_1 , and D is a family of \aleph_1 dense subsets of P, then there exists a D-generic filter on P. By [27] Martin's Maximum is consistent relative to a supercompact cardinal.

Among the consequences of MM proved in [27] are the following:

• The nonstationary ideal on \aleph_1 is \aleph_2 -saturated

• For every regular $\kappa \geq \aleph_2$, every stationary set $S \subseteq \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\kappa}$ contains a closed set of order type ω_1 .

- $2^{\aleph_0} = \aleph_2.$
- For every regular $\kappa \geq \aleph_2$, $\kappa^{\aleph_0} = \kappa$.

The authors of [27] introduced the following *Reflection Principle* and proved that it follows from MM.

If S is a stationary subset of $[\lambda]^{\aleph_0}$ and $X \in [\lambda]^{\aleph_1}$ we say that S reflects at X if $S \cap [X]^{\aleph_0}$ is stationary in $[X]^{\aleph_0}$.

6.1 Definition (Reflection Principle, Foreman-Magidor-Shelah [27]). For every regular $\lambda \geq \aleph_2$, every stationary set $S \subseteq [\lambda]^{\aleph_0}$ reflects at some $X \in [\lambda]^{\aleph_1}$ such that $X \supseteq \omega_1$.

6. Reflection

For a given regular λ , let us call the property in Definition 6.1 *Reflection Principle at* λ . As for the extra condition $X \supseteq \omega_1$, this is not just an ad hoc requirement. Its role is clarified in the following two propositions. (Compare this with the remark following Theorem 2.3.)

6.2 Proposition (Feng-Jech [21]). Let $\lambda \geq \aleph_2$ be a regular cardinal.

(a) Reflection Principle at λ holds if and only if for every stationary set $S \subseteq [\lambda]^{\aleph_0}$, the set $\{X \in [\lambda]^{\aleph_1} : S \text{ reflects at } X\}$ is stationary in $[\lambda]^{\aleph_1}$.

(b) Every stationary $S \subseteq [\lambda]^{\aleph_0}$ reflects at some $X \in [\lambda]^{\aleph_1}$ if and only if for every stationary set $\subseteq [\lambda]^{\aleph_0}$, the set $\{X \in [\lambda]^{\aleph_1} : S \text{ reflects at } X\}$ is weakly stationary in $[\lambda]^{\aleph_1}$.

For $\lambda = \aleph_2$ the assumption $X \supseteq \omega_1$ can be dropped; it is unknown if the same is true in general:

6.3 Proposition (Feng-Jech [21]). Reflection Principle at \aleph_2 holds if and only if every stationary $S \subseteq [\omega_2]^{\aleph_0}$ reflects at some $X \in [\omega_2]^{\aleph_1}$.

The significance of this and related reflection principles is illustrated by the fact that they imply the major consequences of MM. Firstly, Reflection Principle at \aleph_2 implies that the continuum is at most \aleph_2 :

6.4 Theorem (Shelah [80], Todorčević [89]). If every stationary $S \subseteq [\omega_2]^{\aleph_0}$ reflects at some $X \in [\omega_2]^{\aleph_1}$, then $2^{\aleph_0} \leq \aleph_2$.

Proof. For each uncountable $\alpha < \omega_2$, let $C_\alpha \subseteq [\alpha]^{\aleph_0}$ be a club of cardinality \aleph_1 , and let $D = \bigcup_{\omega_1 \leq \alpha < \omega_2} C_\alpha$. By Propositions 6.3 and 6.2(a), the set D contains a club, and we have $|D| = \aleph_2$. However, it is proved in [12] that every club in $[\omega_2]^{\aleph_0}$ has cardinality $\aleph_2^{\aleph_0}$; hence $2^{\aleph_0} \leq \aleph_2$.

Reflection Principle at \aleph_2 is not particularly strong; it is equiconsistent with the existence of a weakly compact cardinal. A modification of Magidor's construction [70] gives a model in which every stationary $S \subseteq [\omega_2]^{\aleph_0}$ reflects at $[\alpha]^{\aleph_0}$ for almost all $\alpha \in \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_1}^{\aleph_2}$.

The general Reflection Principle, for all regular $\lambda \geq \aleph_2$, is a stronger large cardinal property. A modification of the proof of Theorem 25 in [27] shows that the Reflection Principle implies that the nonstationary ideal on ω_1 is presaturated (i.e. precipitous, and forcing with $P(\omega_1)/I_{NS}$ preserves ω_2). This has strong large cardinal consequences.

The Reflection Principle follows from MM and in fact from a weaker forcing axiom MA⁺ (σ -closed). (This latter axiom is known to be strictly weaker than MM). In fact, MA⁺ (σ -closed) implies (cf. [14]) for every regular $\lambda \geq \aleph_2$, for every stationary set $S \subseteq [\lambda]^{\aleph_0}$, the set $\{X \in [\lambda]^{\aleph_1} : S \text{ reflects at } X\}$ meets every ω_1 -closed unbounded set C in $[\lambda]^{\aleph_1}$. This reflection principle was introduced in [23].

Todorčević formulated a strengthening of the Reflection Principle and proved that his *Strong Reflection Principle* (SRP) implies that the nonstationary ideal on ω_1 is \aleph_2 -saturated, that every stationary subset of $\mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\kappa}$ contains a closed copy of ω_1 and that for every regular $\kappa \geq \aleph_2$, $\kappa^{\aleph_0} = \kappa$ (cf. [15]). In [22], another reflection principle is introduced, called *Projective Stationary Reflection* (PSR), and proved to be equivalent to the Strong Reflection Principle (SRP=PSR).

6.5 Definition ([22]). A stationary set $S \subseteq [A]^{\aleph_0}$ where $A \supseteq \omega_1$, is projective stationary if for every club $C \subseteq [A]^{\aleph_0}$, the projection $(S \cap C) \upharpoonright \omega_1 = \{x \cap \omega_1 : x \in S \cap C\}$ to ω_1 contains a club.

6.6 Definition (Projective Stationary Reflection (PSR), Feng-Jech [22]). For every regular $\lambda \geq \aleph_2$, every projective stationary set $S \subseteq [H_{\lambda}]^{\aleph_0}$ contains an increasing continuous \in -chain $\{N_{\alpha} : \alpha < \omega_1\}$ of elementary submodels of H_{λ} .

If $S \subseteq [H_{\lambda}]^{\aleph_0}$ is stationary, let P_S be the forcing notion consisting of countable increasing continuous \in -chains $\{N_{\alpha} : \alpha < \gamma\} \subseteq S$ of elementary submodels of H_{λ} . The set S is projective stationary just in case P_S preserves stationary subsets of ω_1 . Thus PSR follows from Martin's Maximum. It is also proved in [22] that PSR implies the Reflection Principle.

6.7 Theorem (Feng-Jech [22]). Assume PSR. (a) For every regular $\kappa \geq \aleph_2$, every stationary set $S \subseteq \mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\kappa}$ contains a closed set of order type ω_1 .

(b) The nonstationary ideal on ω_1 is \aleph_2 -saturated.

Proof. (a) This is proved by applying PSR to the projective stationary set

 $\{N \in [H_{\kappa}]^{\aleph_0} : S \in N \prec H_{\kappa} \text{ and } \sup(N \cap \kappa) \in S\},\$

where S is a given stationary subset of $\mathbf{E}_{\aleph_0}^{\kappa}$.

(b) Let A be a maximal antichain of stationary subsets of ω_1 . Then the set

$$X = \{ N \in [H_{\omega_2}]^{\aleph_0} : A \in N \prec H_{\omega_2} \text{ and } N \cap \omega_1 \in S \text{ for some } S \in A \cap N \}$$

is projective stationary. By PSR, there exists an \in -chain $\{N_{\alpha} : \alpha < \omega_1\} \subset X$, and we let $N = \bigcup_{\alpha < \omega_1} N_{\alpha}$. One can verify that $A \subset N$, and therefore $|A| \leq \aleph_1$.

6. Reflection

Finally, recent work of Woodin shows that Strong Reflection implies that $2^{\aleph_0} = \aleph_2$, in fact $\delta_2^1 = \omega_2$:

6.8 Theorem (Woodin [94]). Assume SRP. Then the set $\{N \in [H_{\omega_3}]^{\aleph_1} : N \prec H_{\omega_3} \text{ and the order type of } N \cap \omega_3 \text{ is } \omega_1\}$ is weakly stationary. This together with the saturation of the nonstationary ideal, implies that $\delta_1^1 = \omega_2$.

6.2. Nonreflecting stationary sets

The results about reflecting stationary sets in $[\lambda]^{\aleph_0}$ at sets of size \aleph_1 do not generalize to $[\lambda]^{\kappa}$ for $\kappa \geq \aleph_1$. For instance, the analog of the Reflection Principle is false:

6.9 Proposition. If λ is sufficiently large, then it is not the case that every stationary $S \subseteq [\lambda]^{\aleph_1}$ reflects at some $X \in [\lambda]^{\aleph_2}$ such that $X \supseteq \omega_2$.

In Section 6.1 we mentioned that the Reflection Principle implies that I_{NS} on ω_1 is presaturated. To prove Proposition 6.9, one first shows that the generalization of the Reflection Principle would yield presaturation of I_{NS} on ω_2 , thus (as in Shelah's Corollary 3.7) a forcing notion that changes the cofinality of ω_2 to ω while preserving \aleph_1 and \aleph_3 . But that is impossible.

Specific examples of nonreflecting stationary subsets of $[\lambda]^{\aleph_1}$ are given in [25]. That paper also explains why the consistency proof of Reflection Principle does not generalize. A model of MA⁺ (σ -closed) is obtained by Lévy collapsing (to \aleph_1) cardinals below a supercompact. A crucial fact is that the collapse preserves stationary sets in $[\lambda]^{\aleph_0}$ (Theorem 5.2(a)). Unfortunately, the analog of this is false in general, as $< \kappa$ -closed forcing can destroy stationary sets in $P_{\kappa}\lambda$.

Following [27], a model $N \prec H_{\lambda}$ is *internally approachable* (IA) if there exists a chain $\langle N_{\alpha} : \alpha < \gamma \rangle$ whose initial segments belong to N, with $N = \bigcup_{\alpha < \gamma} N_{\alpha}$. Let κ be a regular uncountable cardinal and let $\lambda \geq \kappa$ be regular. The set $P_{\kappa}H_{\lambda} \cap IA$ is stationary and its projection to κ contains a club. Moreover, every countable N is internally approachable and so $[H_{\lambda}]^{\aleph_0} \cap IA$ contains a club.

It is proved in [25] that every $< \kappa$ -closed forcing preserves stationary subsets of $P_{\kappa}H_{\lambda} \cap IA$, and that the $< \kappa$ -closed collapse of H_{λ} shoots a club through $P_{\kappa}H_{\lambda} \cap IA$. As for a generalization of Reflection Principle, they prove that if cardinals between κ and a supercompact are collapsed to κ , then in the resulting model, every stationary set $S \subseteq P_{\kappa}H_{\lambda} \cap IA$ reflects at a set of size κ .

7. Stationary tower forcing

In this last section we give a brief description of the stationary tower forcing, introduced by Woodin in [93]. See also [69].

Let δ be an inaccessible cardinal. Let Q and P the following notions of forcing (the *stationary tower forcing*):

A forcing condition in Q is a pair (A, S) where $A \in V_{\delta}$ and S is a stationary subset of $[A]^{\aleph_0}$; (A, S) < (B, T) if $A \supseteq B$ and $S \upharpoonright B \subseteq T$.

A forcing condition in P is a pair (A, S) where $A \in V_{\delta}$ and S is a weakly stationary subset of $P_{|A|}A$; (A, S) < (B, T) if $A \supseteq B$ and $S \upharpoonright B \subseteq T$.

In fact, the stationary tower forcing is somewhat more general than these two examples, and uses the following generalization of stationary sets (considered e.g. in [20]). A set S is *stationary* in P(A) if $S \subseteq P(A)$ and if for every $F : [A]^{<\omega} \to A$, S contains a closure point of F, i.e. a set $X \subseteq A$ such that $F(e) \in X$ for all $e \in [X]^{<\omega}$. As in Proposition 4.8, projections and liftings of stationary sets are stationary. Also, the analog of Theorem 4.4 holds. Note that the sets $S \upharpoonright P_{\kappa}A$ are exactly the weakly stationary sets in $P_{\kappa}A$, and $S \upharpoonright \{X \in P_{\kappa}\lambda : X \cap \kappa \in \kappa\}$ are the stationary sets in $P_{\kappa}\lambda$.

The general version of stationary tower forcing uses conditions (A, S) where S is stationary in P(A).

If G is a generic filter on Q, then for each $A \in V_{\delta}$, the set $G_A = \{S : (A, S) \in G\}$ is a V-ultrafilter on $([A]^{\aleph_0})^V$; similarly for P. Moreover, if $A \subseteq B$, then G_B projects to G_A . In V[G] we form a limit ultrapower $M = Ult_G(V)$ by the $G_A, A \in V_{\delta}$. The elements of M are represented by functions (in V) whose domain is some $A \in V_{\delta}$. Let $j : V \to M$ be the generic embedding, i.e. the elementary embedding from V into the limit ultrapower.

The ultrapower has a well founded initial segment up to at least δ : each ordinal $\alpha \leq \delta$ is represented by the function $f_{\alpha}(x) = x \cap \alpha$. The identity function id(x) = x represents the set $j^{*}V_{\delta}$. Woodin's main tool is the following:

7.1 Theorem (Woodin [93]). Suppose δ is a Woodin cardinal. If G is a generic on either Q or P, then the generic ultrapower $Ult_G(V)$ is well founded, and the model M is closed under sequences of length $< \delta$.

When forcing with Q, one has $crit(j) = \omega_1$ and $j(\omega_1) = \delta$. For applications, see [93].

Forcing with P gives more flexibility and yields various strong forcing

results. We conclude this section with a typical application. Assume that \aleph_ω is strong limit. Let

$$S = \{ X \in [V_{\aleph_{\omega+1}}]^{\aleph_{\omega}} : X \cap \aleph_{\omega+1} \in \aleph_{\omega+1} \text{ and } cf \ (X \cap \aleph_{\omega+1}) = \aleph_3 \}$$

and let G be a generic on P such that $S \in G$. Then $crit(j) = \aleph_{\omega+1}$ and cf ${}^{M}\aleph_{\omega+1} = \aleph_3$. As $P^{V[G]}(\omega_n) = P^{M}(\omega_n) = P^{V}(\omega_n)$ for all n, we conclude that forcing with P (below $(V_{\aleph_{\omega+1}}, S)$) changes the cofinality of $\aleph_{\omega+1}$ to \aleph_3 while preserving \aleph_{ω} .

I. Stationary Sets

- Uri Abraham and Saharon Shelah. Forcing closed unbounded sets. J. Symbolic Logic, 48(3):643–657, 1983.
- [2] Pavel S. Aleksandrov and Pavel S. Urysohn. Mémoire sur les espaces topologiques compacts. Verh. Akad. Wetensch. Amsterdam, 14:1–96, 1929.
- [3] Bohuslav Balcar, Thomas J. Jech, and Jindřich Zapletal. Semi-Cohen Boolean algebras. Ann. Pure Appl. Logic, 87(3):187–208, 1997.
- [4] Stewart Baldwin. Generalizing the Mahlo hierarchy, with applications to the Mitchell models. Ann. Pure Appl. Logic, 25(2):103–127, 1983.
- [5] Stewart Baldwin. The consistency strength of certain stationary subsets of $\mathcal{P}_{\kappa}\lambda$. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 92(1):90–92, 1984.
- [6] James E. Baumgartner. A new class of order types. Ann. Math. Logic, 9(3):187-222, 1976.
- [7] James. E. Baumgartner. Applications of the Proper Forcing Axiom. In Kenneth Kunen and Jerry E. Vaughan, editors, *Handbook of Set-Theoretic Topology*, pages 913–959. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam-New York, 1984.
- [8] James E. Baumgartner. On the size of closed unbounded sets. Ann. Pure Appl. Logic, 54(3):195-227, 1991.
- [9] James E. Baumgartner, Leo A. Harrington, and Eugene M. Kleinberg. Adding a closed unbounded set. J. Symbolic Logic, 41(2):481–482, 1976.
- [10] James E. Baumgartner and Karel L. Prikry. On a theorem of Silver. Discrete Math., 14(1):17–21, 1976.
- [11] James E. Baumgartner and Karel L. Prikry. Singular cardinals and the generalized continuum hypothesis. *Amer. Math. Monthly*, 84(2):108– 113, 1977.

- [12] James E. Baumgartner and Alan D. Taylor. Saturation properties of ideals in generic extensions. I. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 270(2):557– 574, 1982.
- [13] James E. Baumgartner, Alan D. Taylor, and Stanley Wagon. On splitting stationary subsets of large cardinals. J. Symbolic Logic, 42(2):203– 214, 1977.
- [14] Robert E. Beaudoin. Strong analogues of Martin's axiom imply axiom R. J. Symbolic Logic, 52(1):216–218, 1987.
- [15] Mohamed Bekkali. Topics in Set Theory, volume 1476 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991.
- [16] Gérard Bloch. Sur les ensembles stationnaires de nombres ordinaux et les suites distinguées de fonctions régressives. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 236:265–268, 1953.
- [17] Douglas R. Burke and Yo Matsubara. The extent of strength in the club filters. *Israel J. Math.*, 114:253–263, 1999.
- [18] Donna M. Carr. The minimal normal filter on $P_{\kappa}\lambda$. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 86(2):316–320, 1982.
- [19] C. A. Di Prisco and W. Marek. Some properties of stationary sets. Dissertationes Math. (Rozprawy Mat.), 218:37, 1983.
- [20] Hans-Dieter Donder, Peter Koepke, and Jean-Pierre Levinski. Some stationary subsets of $\mathcal{P}(\lambda)$. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 102(4):1000–1004, 1988.
- [21] Qi Feng and Thomas J. Jech. Local clubs, reflection, and preserving stationary sets. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 58(2):237–257, 1989.
- [22] Qi Feng and Thomas J. Jech. Projective stationary sets and a strong reflection principle. J. London Math. Soc. (2), 58(2):271–283, 1998.
- [23] William G. Fleissner. Left separated spaces with point-countable bases. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 294(2):665–677, 1986.
- [24] Géza Fodor. Eine Bemerkung zur Theorie der regressiven Funktionen. Acta Sci. Math. Szeged, 17:139–142, 1956. MR 18,551d.
- [25] Matthew Foreman and Menachem Magidor. Large cardinals and definable counterexamples to the continuum hypothesis. Ann. Pure Appl. Logic, 76(1):47–97, 1995.

- [26] Matthew Foreman and Menachem Magidor. Mutually stationary sequences of sets and the non-saturation of the non-stationary ideal on $P_{\kappa}(\lambda)$. Acta Math., 186(2):271–300, 2001.
- [27] Matthew Foreman, Menachem Magidor, and Saharon Shelah. Martin's maximum, saturated ideals and nonregular ultrafilters. I. Ann. of Math. (2), 127(1):1–47, 1988.
- [28] Sakaé Fuchino. Some remarks on openly generated Boolean algebras. J. Symbolic Logic, 59(1):302–310, 1994.
- [29] F. Galvin, T. Jech, and M. Magidor. An ideal game. J. Symbolic Logic, 43(2):284–292, 1978.
- [30] Fred Galvin and András Hajnal. Inequalities for cardinal powers. Ann. of Math. (2), 101:491–498, 1975.
- [31] Moti Gitik. The nonstationary ideal on ℵ₂. Israel J. Math., 48(4):257– 288, 1984.
- [32] Moti Gitik. Nonsplitting subset of $P_{\kappa}(\kappa^+)$. J. Symbolic Logic, 50(4):881–894, 1985.
- [33] Moti Gitik. Changing cofinalities and the nonstationary ideal. Israel J. Math., 56(3):280–314, 1986.
- [34] Moti Gitik. On precipitousness of the nonstationary ideal over a supercompact. J. Symbolic Logic, 51(3):648–662, 1986.
- [35] Moti Gitik. Some results on the nonstationary ideal. Israel J. Math., 92(1-3):61–112, 1995.
- [36] Moti Gitik. Some results on the nonstationary ideal. II. Israel J. Math., 99(1-3):175–188, 1997.
- [37] Moti Gitik and Saharon Shelah. Less saturated ideals. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 125(5):1523–1530, 1997.
- [38] Moti Gitik and Jiří Witzany. Consistency strength of the axiom of full reflection at large cardinals. *Israel J. Math.*, 93:113–124, 1996.
- [39] Noa Goldring. The entire NS ideal on $\mathcal{P}_{\gamma}\mu$ can be precipitous. J. Symbolic Logic, 62(4):1161–1172, 1997.
- [40] John Gregory. Higher Souslin trees and the generalized continuum hypothesis. J. Symbolic Logic, 41(3):663–671, 1976.
- [41] Leo A. Harrington and Saharon Shelah. Some exact equiconsistency results in set theory. Notre Dame J. Formal Logic, 26(2):178–188, 1985.

- [42] Lutz Heindorf and Leonid B. Shapiro. Nearly projective Boolean algebras, volume 1596 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1994. With an appendix by Sakaé Fuchino.
- [43] Thomas J. Jech. The closed unbounded filter over $P_{\kappa}(\lambda)$. Notices Amer. Math. Soc., 18:663, 1971. Abstract.
- [44] Thomas J. Jech. Some combinatorial problems concerning uncountable cardinals. Ann. Math. Logic, 5:165–198, 1972/73.
- [45] Thomas J. Jech. An infinite game played with stationary sets. Notices Amer. Math. Soc., 23:A-286, 1976. Abstract.
- [46] Thomas J. Jech. Precipitous ideals. In Logic Colloquium 76 (Oxford, 1976), pages 521–530. Studies in Logic and Found. Math., Vol. 87. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1977.
- [47] Thomas J. Jech. Stationary subsets of inaccessible cardinals. In James E. Baumgartner, Donald A. Martin, and Saharon Shelah, editors, Axiomatic Set Theory, volume 31 of Contemp. Math., pages 115– 142, Providence, R.I., 1984. Amer. Math. Soc.
- [48] Thomas J. Jech. Multiple forcing, volume 88 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1986.
- [49] Thomas J. Jech. Set theory. Perspectives in Mathematical Logic. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 1997.
- [50] Thomas J. Jech, Menachem Magidor, William J. Mitchell, and Karel L. Prikry. Precipitous ideals. J. Symbolic Logic, 45(1):1–8, 1980.
- [51] Thomas J. Jech and Karel L. Prikry. On ideals of sets and the power set operation. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 82(4):593–595, 1976.
- [52] Thomas J. Jech and Karel L. Prikry. Ideals over uncountable sets: Applications of almost disjoint functions and generic ultrapowers. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 18(214), 1979.
- [53] Thomas J. Jech and Saharon Shelah. A note on canonical functions. Israel J. Math., 68(3):376–380, 1989.
- [54] Thomas J. Jech and Saharon Shelah. Full reflection of stationary sets below ℵ_ω. J. Symbolic Logic, 55(2):822–830, 1990.
- [55] Thomas J. Jech and Saharon Shelah. Full reflection of stationary sets at regular cardinals. Amer. J. Math., 115(2):435–453, 1993.
- [56] Thomas J. Jech and Saharon Shelah. On reflection of stationary sets in $\mathcal{P}_{\kappa}\lambda$. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 352(6):2507–2515, 2000.

- [57] Thomas J. Jech and Jiří Witzany. Full reflection at a measurable cardinal. J. Symbolic Logic, 59(2):615–630, 1994.
- [58] Thomas J. Jech and W. Hugh Woodin. Saturation of the closed unbounded filter on the set of regular cardinals. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 292(1):345–356, 1985.
- [59] Ronald B. Jensen. The fine structure of the constructible hierarchy. Ann. Math. Logic, 4:229–308, 1972.
- [60] C. A. Johnson. On saturated ideals and $P_{\kappa}\lambda$. Fund. Math., 129(3):215–221, 1988.
- [61] Yuzuru Kakuda. Precipitousness of the ideal of thin sets on a measurable cardinal. In Logic Symposia, Hakone 1979, 1980 (Hakone, 1979/1980), volume 891 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 49–56. Springer, Berlin, 1981.
- [62] Akihiro Kanamori. The Higher Infinite. Large Cardinals in Set Theory from Their Beginnings. Perspectives in Mathematical Logic. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1994.
- [63] Jussi Ketonen. Some combinatorial principles. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 188:387–394, 1974.
- [64] Sabine Koppelberg. Projective Boolean algebras. In Handbook of Boolean algebras, Vol. 3, pages 741–773. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1989.
- [65] Sabine Koppelberg. Characterizations of Cohen algebras. In Susan Andima et al., editors, *Papers on General Topology and Applications*, volume 704 of *Ann. New York Acad. Sci.*, pages 222–237, New York, 1993. New York Academy of Sciences.
- [66] David W. Kueker. Löwenheim-Skolem and interpolation theorems in infinitary languages. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 78:211–215, 1972.
- [67] David W. Kueker. Countable approximations and Löwenheim-Skolem theorems. Ann. Math. Logic, 11(1):57–103, 1977.
- [68] Kenneth Kunen. Saturated ideals. J. Symbolic Logic, 43(1):65–76, 1978.
- [69] Paul B. Larson. The Stationary Tower: Notes on a Course by W. Hugh Woodin, volume 32 of University Lecture Series. American Mathematical Society, 2004.
- [70] Menachem Magidor. Reflecting stationary sets. J. Symbolic Logic, 47(4):755–771, 1982.

- [71] Paul Mahlo. Über lineare transfinite Mengen. Berichte König. Sächs. Ges. Wiss. Leipzig, 63:187–225, 1911.
- [72] Yo Matsubara. Menas' conjecture and generic ultrapowers. Ann. Pure Appl. Logic, 36(3):225–234, 1987.
- [73] Yo Matsubara. Splitting $P_{\kappa}\lambda$ into stationary subsets. J. Symbolic Logic, 53(2):385–389, 1988.
- [74] Yo Matsubara. Consistency of Menas' conjecture. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 42(2):259–263, 1990.
- [75] Yo Matsubara and Masahiro Shioya. Nowhere precipitousness of some ideals. J. Symbolic Logic, 63(3):1003–1006, 1998.
- [76] Alan H. Mekler and Saharon Shelah. The consistency strength of "every stationary set reflects". *Israel J. Math.*, 67(3):353–366, 1989.
- [77] Telis K. Menas. On strong compactness and supercompactness. Ann. Math. Logic, 7:327–359, 1974/75.
- [78] E. V. Ščepin. Functors and uncountable degrees of compacta. Uspekhi Mat. Nauk, 36(3(219)):3–62, 255, 1981.
- [79] Saharon Shelah. Proper Forcing, volume 940 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1982.
- [80] Saharon Shelah. Around classification theory of models, volume 1182 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1986.
- [81] Saharon Shelah. Iterated forcing and normal ideals on ω_1 . Israel J. Math., 60(3):345–380, 1987.
- [82] Saharon Shelah. Cardinal Arithmetic, volume 29 of Oxford Logic Guides. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1994.
- [83] Masahiro Shioya. A saturated stationary subset of $\mathcal{P}_{\kappa}\kappa^+$. Math. Res. Lett., 10(4):493–500, 2003.
- [84] Jack H. Silver. On the singular cardinals problem. In Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, pages 265–268, Montreal, Que., 1975. Canad. Math. Congress.
- [85] Robert M. Solovay. Real-valued measurable cardinals. In Dana S. Scott, editor, Axiomatic Set Theory, pages 397–428, Providence, R.I., 1971. Amer. Math. Soc.

- [86] John R. Steel. The Core Model Iterability Problem, volume 8 of Lecture Notes in Logic. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1996.
- [87] John R. Steel and Robert van Wesep. Two consequences of determinacy consistent with choice. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 272(1):67–85, 1982.
- [88] Stevo Todorčević. On a conjecture of R. Rado. J. London Math. Soc. (2), 27(1):1–8, 1983.
- [89] Stevo Todorčević. Reflecting stationary sets. 1985. Handwritten notes.
- [90] Jan Tryba. On Jónsson cardinals with uncountable cofinality. Israel J. Math., 49(4):315–324, 1984.
- [91] Jiří Witzany. Possible behaviours of the reflection ordering of stationary sets. J. Symbolic Logic, 60(2):534–547, 1995.
- [92] W. Hugh Woodin. Some consistency results in ZFC using AD. In Cabal seminar 79–81, volume 1019 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 172–198. Springer, Berlin, 1983.
- [93] W. Hugh Woodin. Supecompact cardinals, sets of reals, and weakly homogeneous trees. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 85(18):6587–6591, 1988.
- [94] W. Hugh Woodin. The Axiom of Determinacy, Forcing Axioms, and the Nonstationary Ideal, volume 1 of de Gruyter Series in Logic and its Applications. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 1999.
- [95] Yasuo Yoshinobu. On strength of precipitousness of some ideals and towers. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 51(3):535–541, 1999.

Index

 \aleph_1 -dense, 18 κ -saturated, 8 κ^+ -saturated, 17

canonical function, 9 canonical set, 15 club, 4, 22 club-guessing, 10 Cohen algebra, 28

Galvin-Hajnal norm, 9 generic ultrapower, 7

lifting, 23

openly generated algebra, 29 order, 15

precipitous, 20 projection, 23 projective Boolean algebra, 28 Projective Stationary Reflection, 32 projective stationary set, 32

Reflection Principle, 31 reflects, 11, 31 reflects fully, 16 regular subalgebra, 28 relatively complete subalgebra, 28

semi-Cohen algebra, 29 shooting a club, 10 stationary tower forcing, 34 Strong Reflection Principle, 32 strongly club set, 24 trace, 13

weakly stationary, 24